

UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

Investigating the Effect of IL-17 on Ductular Reaction During Liver Regeneration

MSc by Research Immunology and Immunotherapy Thesis September 2021

> Eleanor Ward 1661369

Primary Supervisor: Dr Wei-Yu Lu Secondary Supervisor: Dr David Withers

UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research Archive

e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

Acknowledgements

A massive thank you to my supervisor, Dr Wei-Yu Lu for supporting me throughout this project. I will always be grateful for your advice, support and time. I could not have completed this Master's without you! Also, a big thank you to the FLABBIES at the Institute of Immunology and Immunotherapy for all your kindness and support. The past two years have been tough, but thoroughly enjoyable, and I look forward to doing research again one day. For now, I hope this thesis does the research I completed justice. Thank you again to The University of Birmingham for giving me this opportunity.

Table of Contents

ABBREVIATIONS
ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION1
Overview of Liver Diseases1
Chronic Liver Disease2
Animal Models of Liver Injury4
Current and Prospective Treatments5
Whole Organ Transplantation5
Potential Cellular Therapies for Liver Diseases7
Pharmacological Interventions11
Liver Regeneration13
Ductular Reaction15
The Role of HPCs in Liver Regeneration
Background of IL-1719
The Role of IL-17 in the Immune System
IL-17 Signal Transduction22
The Role of IL-17 in Chronic Liver Diseases
The Role of IL-17 in Other Pathologies
The Role of IL-17A in Liver Regeneration
The Role of Other Mediators in Liver Regeneration
Tumour Necrosis Factor-alpha29
Lymphotoxin-beta Receptor30
A2032
Hepatocyte Growth Factor Signalling
Epidermal Growth Factor Signalling
CD133 and IL-1736
Wnt and IL-17
HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS
MATERIALS AND METHODS40

RESULTS	.50
IL-17A expression is increased during liver injury in Mdm2 ^{flox/flox} mouse livers	.50
IL-17A expression increases in multiple immune cell subsets during liver disease	.52
IL-17RA expression increases in cdHPCs isolated from diseased livers	.54
Maintenance of cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cells (cdHPCs)	.56
IL-17 enhances CD133 expression and upregulates cdHPC proliferation	.57
IL-17 upregulates factors involved in the Wnt signalling pathway	59
IL-17A treatment enhances CD133 expression in cdHPCs	61
cdHPCs treated with IL-17A have a slower cell migration/healing response	63
Mitomycin C treatment inhibits cdHPC proliferation	.65
IL-17A treatment promotes cdHPC proliferation	66
Investigating the optimum dose of BAY 11-7082 (NF-κB inhibitor) on cdHPCs	.67
Inhibiting NF-κB downregulates CD133 protein expression in cdHPCs	.68
DISCUSSION	.69
CONCLUSION	.80
Limitations	.80
Future Directions	.81
Concluding Remarks	.81
BIBLIOGRAPHY	.83

Table of Figures

INTRODUCTION

The progression of liver disease from healthy to hepatocellular carcinoma	3
The proposed mechanism of liver regeneration in chronic liver injury	.14
The IL-17 cytokine family	.20
IL-17A and the NF-κB pathway	.23
The relationship between IL-17A, A20, MET and EGFR	.35

RESULTS

Greater expression of IL-17A is seen in Mdm2 ^{-/-} mouse livers	1
IL-17A expression by CD11b ^{Hi} F480 ⁻ monocytes and CD11b ⁺ Ly6G ⁺ neutrophils is greater in MCD mice53	3
Expression of IL-17A is greater in CDHPCs isolated from MCD-fed mice55	5
Brightfield and immunofluorescent images of expanded mouse cholangiocytes	6
IL-17 treatment upregulates CD133 expression and proliferative markers in cdHPCs58	8
IL-17 treatment upregulates the expression of Wnt signalling factors in cdHPCs60	0
IL-17 treatment of cdHPCs upregulates CD133 expression with enhanced response in Wnt ⁺ cells62	2
IL-17A treatment slows the cell migration/wound healing response in cdHPCs64	4
cdHPC proliferation is inhibited following mitomycin C treatment	5
cdHPC proliferation increases following IL-17A treatment	6
Dose finding experiment to determine the optimum dose of BAY on cdHPCs6	7
CD133 protein expression following IL-17A and NF-κB inhibitor treatment of cdHPCs6	8

ABBREVIATIONS

NAFLD	Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
НСС	Hepatocellular carcinoma
ALF	Acute liver failure
CLD/CLI	Chronic liver disease/chronic liver injury
NASH	Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis
MCD	Methionine-choline deficient
DDC	3,5-diethoxycarbonyl-1,4-dihydrocollidine
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
HPC	Hepatic progenitor cell
cdHPC	Cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cell
DR	Ductular reaction
PHx	Partial hepatectomy

ABSTRACT

NAFLD is a highly prevalent disease, currently affecting an estimated 25% of the global population. Liver transplantation remains the only curative treatment, but this is becoming increasingly limited due to lack of donor availability, viable organs, organ rejection, and disease recurrence. Hepatic progenitor cells are activated following chronic liver damage, expanding to replace the liver's hepatocyte and cholangiocyte population. This is accompanied by ductular reaction (DR), a compensatory mechanism involving the remodelling of bile ducts. In this investigation, we demonstrate a novel pathway involving IL-17A, a proinflammatory cytokine, which drives the bipotency of these progenitor cells to promote ductular reaction and liver regeneration by stimulating expression of the stem cell marker, CD133. This is achieved through various signalling pathways, most notably NF- κ B and Wnt, factors of which are significantly upregulated following IL-17A treatment of cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cells (cdHPCs). FACS analysis revealed CD11b⁺ Ly6G⁺ neutrophils to be the major source of IL-17A in a mouse model of fatty liver disease. This study indicates that IL-17A may act as a potential therapeutic target to mediate cdHPC-driven liver regeneration, preventing the need for liver transplantation in the future.

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview of Liver Diseases

Liver disease is one of the major causes of death worldwide with cirrhosis, viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) accounting for approximately 2 million deaths every year.¹ In 2017, 1.32 million deaths worldwide could be directly attributed to cirrhosis, making it the 11th most common cause of mortality.² However, due to the lack of accurate mortality data for some regions where the prevalence of liver disease is high such, as Africa, it is likely that this number is far greater.¹ Liver disease consists of a range of conditions, including non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), fibrosis, cirrhosis, autoimmune hepatitis and HCC. Whilst these constitute chronic cases of the disease, severe acute liver injury and subsequent failure also remains a problem due to its high mortality. Acute liver failure (ALF) is a rare disorder arising from the rapid deterioration of liver function but in the absence of existing chronic liver disease. As a consequence of severe and abrupt hepatocyte injury, patients develop hepatic encephalopathy and coagulopathy, with a high mortality rate of 30%.³⁻⁵ Paracetamol-induced hepatotoxicity is the major cause of ALF in the UK and most of the developed world, whereas viral hepatitis-induced ALF is more prevalent in developing countries.^{1, 6} Other known causes of this condition include hepatic ischaemia, as a result of circulatory failure or septic shock, autoimmune hepatitis and rare factors such as Wilson's disease, Budd-Chiari syndrome and malignancies. It has been reported that drug-induced liver injury, hepatitis B infection and autoimmune hepatitis tend to have the worst survival rates.^{6,7} Although chronic liver disease (CLD) and ALF have entirely separate

aetiologies, the only treatment to improve patient and survival outcomes is liver transplantation, a highly invasive and limited option due to donor availability.⁵

1.1.1 Chronic Liver Disease

Chronic liver disease (CLD) occurs as a result of the progressive deterioration of liver functions, largely due to continuous inflammation destroying the liver parenchyma. To compensate for this, the liver has an extraordinary ability to regenerate, replacing hepatic cells and restoring liver function. However, the constant cycle of destruction and regeneration leads to fibrosis and eventually, cirrhosis of the liver. The aetiological basis of CLD varies from toxin exposure and prolonged alcohol abuse, to viral infections, autoimmune disease and genetic or metabolic disorders. Liver cirrhosis is an end-stage of CLD, with widespread disruption of liver architecture, the formation of nodules, neo-angiogenesis and the deposition of extra-cellular matrix (ECM).⁸ The majority of patients with cirrhosis are asymptomatic until the liver becomes decompensated, leading to ascites, hepatic encephalopathy, variceal bleeding and portal hypertension. Despite alcohol abuse accounting for most cases of CLD, 10% are due to NAFLD and also commonly associated with obesity.⁹

NAFLD can be separated into two separate conditions of the liver – non-alcoholic fatty liver (NAFL), where steatosis can occur with or without the presence of mild lobular inflammation, and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), which can involve varying degrees of fibrosis and cirrhosis.¹ The severity of inflammation is characterised by a marked inflammatory infiltrate, consisting of monocytes,

lymphocytes and occasionally, neutrophils. The presence of Kupffer cells (KC) often correlates with necroinflammation, liver injury and the degree of fibrosis. KC hepatic infiltration is strongly linked to the pathogenesis of fatty liver disease, playing a role in mediating inflammation, regulating triglyceride storage and hepatocyte injury.¹⁰ NAFLD is prevalent in an estimated 25% of the global population, likely as a result of the growing obesity epidemic which currently affects 2 billion people worldwide.¹ Prevalence of this disease is highest in the Middle East and South America, and lowest in Africa. In the majority of cases, NAFLD is accompanied by obesity, but there is a growing incidence of 'lean' NASH cases, particularly in Asia.¹¹ These findings indicate that not only obesity, but diet as well is key in the development of steatosis. In 0.5% to 2.6% of cases, NASH when coupled with cirrhosis can also lead to the development of HCC. Although this is a low incidence rate, the projected increase of NASH cases by 56% in the next 10 years strongly suggest that this chronic liver disease will become a major health service and economic burden.¹¹⁻¹³ Currently, the only successful treatment for cirrhosis and end-stage liver disease is to undergo liver transplantation. However, the immune response and availability issues involved with this necessitate the need for new viable treatment options and alternatives to liver transplantation.



Figure 1: The progression of liver disease from healthy to hepatocellular carcinoma.

Incidences of fatty liver disease and fibrosis are considered reversible, whereas the reversal of cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma relies on the availability and success of liver transplantation.

1.1.2 Animal Models of Liver Injury

MCD

The methionine-choline deficient (MCD) is the most common model to induce fatty liver disease in mice, largely due to its ability to replicate a severe phenotype of NASH in a short period of time. Steatohepatitis can occur in as little as 10 days following administration, and perisinusoidal fibrosis is induced at 8 to 10 weeks, making the MCD diet an efficient and reproducible model to investigate NAFLD. It consists of a high sucrose content (40%) and moderate fat content (10%), but the deficiencies in methionine and choline are responsible for the severe histopathology seen in this model. The lack of choline results in the inhibition of phosphatidylcholine synthesis, leading to impaired very low-density lipoprotein (vLDL) production and lipid accumulation in the liver. Deficiency of methionine, an essential amino acid, results in a lack of glutathione (GSH). A decrease in GSH, a potent antioxidant, causes oxidative stress and alterations in cytokines and adipokines, inducing liver damage. As the MCD diet does not lead to obesity, hyperlipidaemia, and peripheral insulin resistance, which are metabolic hallmarks of NAFLD, it is not suitable for investigating the multisystemic aspects of this disease but is acceptable for exploring intrahepatic developments in NAFLD.^{14, 15}

Mdm2^{flox/flox}

The murine double minute 2 knockout (Mdm2^{flox/flox}) mouse model induces liver injury through a different mechanism to the MCD diet. This is controlled under hepatotropic AAV8-Cre, deleting the Mdm2 gene specifically in hepatocytes to avoid the complications of Mdm2 knockout throughout the system. In the liver, Mdm2 is responsible for regulating p53, a tumour suppressor protein, to allow for normal cell

proliferation, renewal of hepatocytes and hepatocyte metabolism.¹⁶ The deletion of hepatocyte-specific Mdm2 leads to senescence, apoptosis and fibrosis, causing significant liver damage. The incidence of fibrosis in this model is a result of connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) synthesis promoting fibrogenesis in the liver.¹⁷ Adipocyte-specific liver damage, however, induces chronic p53 activation and triggers adipose tissue loss. These mice develop hyperlipidaemia, hyperglycaemia, and a non-alcoholic fatty liver phenotype.¹⁸ In non-specific Mdm2^{-/-} mouse models, however, the effects are widespread and involve multiple systems, leading to cellular apoptosis throughout the body. Using this model may affect the outcomes of exploring individual systems, such as the liver, and therefore may not be a true representation. Therefore, using hepatotropic AAV8-Cre to specifically deleted Mdm2 in hepatocytes is more accurate model.

1.2 Current and Prospective Treatments

1.2.1 Whole Organ Transplantation

Liver transplantation is the gold standard treatment for almost all end-stage liver diseases, with a 1- and 5-year adult patient survival rate of 92% and 80%, respectively.¹⁹ 5000 liver transplantations are performed annually in Europe, owing to the growing indications for transplant.²⁰ Patients with acute and chronic liver failure, cirrhosis, autoimmune diseases such as primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) and primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC), as well as metabolic disorders and malignancies, are now being treated using whole organ transplantation.²¹ However,

this definitive treatment has several major limitations, and therefore the need for alternative therapies has become substantial.

The growing list of patients being considered for transplantation, as well as a large proportions of these having more comorbidities (diabetes mellitus, obesity and portal vein thrombosis), far outweighs the number of donor livers available.²¹ This is despite a 60% increase in donor number from 2010 to 2016.¹⁹ In addition to this, liver transplants are associated with a variety of risks. The need for immunosuppressive treatment following transplantation, especially in cases of prolonged immunosuppressant (IS) use, is associated with increased mortality in the late phase of liver transplantations. Although IS drugs are essential in the induction and maintenance of immunosuppression, and as treatment for rejection, their use can lead to significant nephrotoxicity and subsequent renal replacement therapy. Calcineurin inhibitors (CNI) and mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitors (mTOR-is) carry a greater risk in terms of drug-drug interactions, toxicity and rejection.²²

Aside from IS-induced renal injuries, a high frequency of renal injuries occurs in transplant recipients as a result of pre-existing hepato-renal syndrome and nephrotoxic antimicrobial agents. It has been suggested that anywhere between 17 and 94% of patients experience post-operative renal injury, increasing the occurrence of morbidity and mortality after transplantation.²³

A further complication following liver transplantation is graft-versus-host disease (GVHD). This condition is most frequent in intestinal transplantation, with liver transplantation having the second highest incidence rate (0.5% to 2%). Despite this

very low incidence rate in comparison to other transplant-related complications, GVHD carries an 85% mortality rate, often due to delayed diagnosis and initiation of therapy.^{24, 25} This complication is the result of donor immune cells recognising the recipient's antigens as foreign, inciting an immune response, and attacking healthy cells and tissues. A higher incidence of GVHD is seen in grafts with a greater proportion of immunocompetent donor lymphocytes, including bone marrow cells.²⁴

The recurrence of liver disease following liver transplantation poses a further problem with this treatment, particularly in autoimmune liver diseases, where recurrence rates range from 10% to over 50%. Approximately 12.4% of patients with PSC, and between 1% and 5% of those with PBC, experience graft failure and require re-transplantation.²⁶ In patients with NAFLD, there is a higher incidence of peri-surgical infections, malignancies, and cardiovascular events. Those also with diabetes mellitus prior to transplant have an increased risk of cardiovascular complications, infections, graft rejection and reduced survival. Recurrent rates are particularly high in NAFLD, with 1-, 3- and 5-year incidence rates being 59%, 57% and 82% respectively. Interestingly, high rates of *de novo* NAFLD in patients post-transplantation, have been reported, as well as a 11%-14% recurrence of cirrhosis in advanced liver disease cases.²⁷

1.2.2 Potential Cellular Therapies for Liver Diseases

MSC Therapy

In response to the problems associated with relying solely on liver transplantation, there have been numerous clinical trials with the aim of finding alternative therapies. Stem cells in particular have been the subject of these trials, with researchers exploiting their remarkable ability to differentiate into specialised cell types with changes in microenvironment. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs; also known as mesenchymal stromal cells) are multipotent and highly immunomodulatory stem cells originally isolated from the bone marrow.^{28, 29} They are capable of differentiation into various stromal cells, including adipocytes, reticular cells, and osteoblasts. As well as being bone marrow derived, MSCs can be isolated from the adult connective tissues dental pulp, adipose tissue, and peripheral blood, as well as menstrual blood, amniotic fluid, the placenta, and components of the umbilical cord.^{28, 30}

MSCs are characterised in several ways, where they must be plastic-adherent in standard culture conditions and express certain surface markers. Mesenchymal lineage markers CD105, CD73 and CD90 must be expressed, whereas a lack of haematopoietic lineage markers, including CD34, CD45, CD11a and CD19, and the endothelial lineage marker, CD31. Additionally, to be classed as an MSC, human leukocyte antigen (HLA-DR) surface molecules must be absent and MSC must be capable of differentiating into osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondroblasts *in vitro*.³⁰⁻³²

MSCs have a range of immunomodulatory properties through immune cell interaction and cytokine, chemokine and growth factor secretion, allowing them to have a significant effect on the immune response.^{28, 33} MSCs suppress dendritic cell (DC) generation, migration and maturation, impairing their ability to activate antigen specific CD4⁺ T cells. Interactions between DCs and MSCs also shifts these CD4⁺ cells from a pro-inflammatory (Th1) phenotype to an anti-inflammatory (Th2) one. MSCs have also been shown to be capable of promoting an anti-inflammatory, or

immunoregulatory, monocyte/macrophage phenotype, which further inhibits Th1 and DC differentiation. MSC production of IL-6 and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) modulates IL-10 secretion by monocytes, which further promotes an antiinflammatory environment through Treg expansion. ^{30, 34} In addition to this, MSCs suppress T cell and natural killer (NK) cell proliferation, the latter resulting in the reduced cytotoxic activity of NK cells.^{28, 34}

A recent study showed that the use of mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) in NAFLDinduced mice showed a reverse in steatosis through the suppression of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes. Improvements in lobular inflammation and liver fibrogenesis were also reported.³⁵ In end-stage CLD, the transplantation of bone marrow-derived MSC into alcohol-induced cirrhotic livers improved fibrosis histology and liver function, as measured by Child-Pugh and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) levels.³⁶ Due to their high degree of plasticity, MSC are able to differentiate into both mesodermal cell lineages such as cardiomyocytes, osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondrocytes, and nonmesodermal cells including hepatocytes.³⁵ Additionally, MSC can secrete anti-fibrotic and anti-inflammatory factors to reduce chronic inflammation and potentially regress fibrosis pathophysiology.³⁷ These properties, alongside the ability of MSCs to promote tissue regeneration and regulate immune environments, are what make MSCs an exciting treatment prospect.

Pluripotent Stem Cell Therapy

Studies involving other stem cell sources, including pluripotent embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), have also had some success in

improving CLD outcomes. In CCl₄-treated mice, ESCs were potent enough to differentiate into hepatocyte-like cells that integrated into the liver parenchyma and reduced fibrosis.³⁷ However, reports of splenic tumorigenicity indicate that further thorough investigations into the safety of ESCs need to be made before they can even be considered a potential treatment option.³⁸ Interestingly, a study exploring the engraftment and regenerative capabilities of human iPSCs discovered that they exhibited similarities to that of ESCs and when differentiated, to that of human primary hepatocytes. Human iPSCs were capable of producing multistage hepatic cells that could secrete corresponding levels of human-specific liver proteins to those of hepatocytes.³⁹

Hepatocyte Transplantation

Aside from stem cell-based therapies, allogeneic hepatocyte transplantation has also been considered as a potentially alternative treatment to liver transplantation. This cellular therapy is less invasive and less expensive than surgical interventions, can be performed repeatedly, and may be the basis for a regenerative response in patients with acute liver failure. Primary human hepatocytes (PHH) can be isolated from previously rejected whole donor livers, liver segments I and IV, foetal livers and donor animal livers, such as from healthy pigs.^{40, 41} Successful hepatocyte transplants have been seen in a range of diseases: urea cycle defects in liver-based metabolic disorders; Crigler-Najjar syndrome; Glycogen storage disease type I, and factor VII deficiency.⁴⁰ However, the success of hepatocyte transplantation relies on a good supply of high-quality human hepatocytes; freshly isolated PHHs are the optimum choice for in vivo transplantation.⁴² Unfortunately, limitations in supply and

difficulties in maintaining hepatocytes in culture mean that hepatocyte transplantation is often unsuccessful.^{41, 42} Freezing hepatocytes via cryopreservation offers a solution, although freeze-thawing cycles damage mitochondria, impacting cellular respiration and may also induce apoptosis, although this is reduced when suspended in human plasma.^{40, 42} Careful handling and aseptic techniques are central to preventing contamination, and all hepatocytes must be subjected to microbiological analysis before being transplanted, another potential barrier in this process. Additionally, the quality of isolated cells is usually poor and therefore are not viable for transplantation.⁴⁰ One method to overcome this that has been to generate immortal human hepatocytes via the introduction of telomerase constructs, retroviral transfection, or spontaneous transformation. However, there is an increased risk of tumour transmission or tumorigenesis with this method. Separately, although the possibility of using animals to increase hepatocyte supply has been discussed, engraftment was found to be very low at only 0.5% of the recipient liver mass under normal conditions.⁴¹ In order for hepatocyte transplantation to become a viable treatment option, improvements in the success of cell engraftment, isolation quality and understanding of underlying immune mechanisms, are needed.

1.2.3 Pharmacological Interventions

A variety of pharmacological therapies have been explored to treat cholestatic disease and improve patient outcomes. Ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA), a bile acid used to treat primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) has shown to be hepatoprotective with improved liver function and reduced inflammation, but long-term trials have shown little benefit in reversing hepatic steatosis. Metformin, which is most commonly used in the treatment of Type 2 diabetes, is known to improve insulin resistance, a key feature in NASH aetiology. Despite this, the use of metformin failed to exhibit any histological benefits.⁴³ Other studies have explored the potential role of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) analogues, which are also used in Type 2 diabetes treatment to control glycaemia and reduce weight.⁴⁴ GLP-1 is an intestinal hormone, playing a central role in regulating glycaemia, promoting β -cell proliferation and inhibiting glucagon release. As a result of this, gastric emptying is delayed, increasing satiety, and limiting food intake.^{45, 46} Patients with NAFLD have downregulated GLP-1 receptor production, and therefore poor glycaemic control.⁴⁷ It has been suggested that hyperglycaemia induces hepatic steatosis, likely through aberrant metabolic pathways leading to excess fat accumulation. GLP-1 receptor agonists (GLP-1RA), such as liraglutide, proved effective in reducing hepatic inflammation, steatosis and fibrosis, as well as showing histological improvements.^{44, 48} These benefits and a good safety profile make GLP-1RAs an attractive treatment in the resolution of NAFLD-associated steatosis and inflammation.⁴⁷

1.3 Liver Regeneration

The liver has a remarkable capacity to regenerate as a result of hepatic tissue injury or partial hepatectomy (PHx). Under these circumstances, the remaining hepatocytes undergo hypertrophy and proliferate to restore either the resected liver mass or replace damaged tissue. However, in cases of chronic insult, such as NAFLD, cirrhosis and autoimmune hepatitis, the ability of hepatocytes to self-renew becomes overwhelmed, impairing hepatocyte-driven regeneration. This is often accompanied by widespread hepatocyte senescence, which can lead to liver function insufficiency or even failure.⁴⁹ Instead, is it thought that a compartment of bipotent hepatic progenitor cells (HPCs), also known as oval cells, become activated and undergo a massive expansion to repopulate the liver. These progenitor cells are capable of differentiating into both hepatocytes and the biliary epithelial cells, or cholangiocytes, that line the biliary tree.⁵⁰⁻⁵² Cholangiocytes can also act as facultative liver stem cells, dedifferentiating into HPCs which can then differentiate into hepatocytes and cholangiocytes. These newly formed cells proliferate rapidly to restore the injured tissue, with some cholangiocytes reverting back to their progenitor-like state to replace the HPC population.⁵³ Ko et al have shown that this biliary-driven liver regeneration may be regulated by bromodomain and extraterminal (BET) proteins throughout the dedifferentiation, HPC proliferation, hepatocyte proliferation and maturation process.⁵⁴ BET proteins are involved in regulating the expression of genes associated with immunity through epigenetic modification. This modification, through recognising acetylated histones and recruiting transcription factors, such as RELA, is essential in activating gene transcription for cytokines, chemokines, and other immune response mediators. It may be that BET-related

modifications are involved in liver stem cell activation as part of the immune response.⁵⁵ It is also thought that hepatocytes are able to transdifferentiate into cholangiocytes or biliary-like cells following cholangiocyte damage.⁵⁰ Whether HPCs differentiate into hepatocytes or cholangiocytes has been shown to rely on antagonistic interactions between Wnt, Notch and Yap signalling pathways. Biliary cell fate is specified as a result of the Notch-expressing HPCs and Jagged1- expressing myofibroblasts, whereas Wnt3a-induced suppression of Notch signalling in HPCs favours the hepatocyte lineage. As Notch acts to signal biliary promotion during development, it is likely to play a role in driving HPC differentiation into cholangiocytes. Using genetic lineage tracing, it has been suggested that *Sox9*, *Foxl1*, and *Lgr5* are the key expression markers of progenitor cells that are able to give rise to both types of hepatic cells *in vivo*.⁵⁶ TROP2 and EpCAM have also been proposed as human HPC markers, although EpCAM and SOX9 are also expressed by cholangiocytes.⁵²



Cholangiocyte

Figure 2: The proposed mechanism of liver regeneration in chronic liver injury. Chronic damage to the liver exhausts the ability of hepatocytes to self-renew, leading cholangiocytes to transdifferentate into a progenitor-like cell, capable of renewing both cholangiocytes and hepatocytes. Cholangiocytes are then able to differentiate back into progenitor cells, maintaining this population.

1.3.1 Ductular Reaction

As a by-product of HPC activation, a compensatory mechanism known as ductular reaction (DR) occurs.⁵⁷ Characterised by the proliferation of reactive bile ducts, DRs emerge following chronic liver injury or biliary disorders, and consist of cells expressing both biliary epithelial cell and hepatocyte features.^{52, 58} Their shared morphology and keratin expression suggests that these cells are putative HPCs, able to give rise to hepatocytes and cholangiocytes. However, it is difficult to discern the direction of cell fate and functional role of HPCs due to limitations in lineage tracing. Therefore, they may be derived from biliary epithelium, or via the de-differentiation of hepatocytes, undergoing ductal metaplasia to contribute to DRs.⁵¹ The resulting reactive lesion is accompanied by a complex of stroma, inflammatory cells and bone-marrow derived macrophages, and is commonly associated with the progression of portal fibrosis in NASH. It also appears that the expansion of HPCs precedes DR development as HPC activation is seen in NAFLD cases without the emergence of DRs or fibrosis.⁵⁹ To further explore this, it is possible to identify the direction of DRs via genetically modified mouse models and fate mapping.

1.3.2 The Role of HPCs in Liver Regeneration

There has been significant debate over the extent of HPC contribution to hepatocyte regeneration in acute and chronic liver injury. Conflicting data and the use of lineage tracing with existing mouse lines has failed to define the contribution of progenitor cells to the maintenance of homeostasis within the liver. In patients with advanced liver disease, HPC-driven liver regeneration is shown to be ineffective, especially in

cases of massive hepatic necrosis during acute liver failure.⁶⁰ Some studies have shown that HPCs do play a key role in liver mass recovery after CCl₄-induced injury or PHx in mice, whereas others have given strong evidence for hepatocytes as the main contributors to maintaining liver mass.⁴⁹ This shows a need for more accurate insights into the role of HPCs in triggering mass liver regeneration. Zebrafish models have been widely used to support the findings that cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cells (cdHPCs) are responsible for liver regeneration after extreme hepatocyte loss. Biliary cells were shown to dedifferentiate into progenitor or hepatoblast-like cells, expressing both albumin and cytokeratin-19 (CK19), which are expressed by hepatocyte and cholangiocytes respectively.⁶¹ Cholangiocyte to hepatocyte transdifferentiation was also suggested to require Notch as a promoter of dedifferentiation and formation of a bipotential intermediate. Extensive loss of hepatocytes downregulates this Notch signal, allowing HPCs to undergo hepatocyte differentiation. Cre/loxP-based inducible lineage tracing showed that these new hepatocytes largely arose from cholangiocyte transdifferentiation as a result of Notch signalling and Sox9b activation in transgenic zebrafish models. Defective biliary cell development, however, impacted this process and led to impaired hepatocyte regeneration. This was shown through the pre-treatment of defective zebrafish larvae with γ -secretase inhibitor DAPT, which inhibits Notch signalling, and metronidazole (MTZ) for the inhibition of biliary development, showed hepatocyte regeneration to be significantly impaired in the absence of intrahepatic biliary development.62

In contrast, it has been argued that bipotential liver progenitor cells are mostly derived from mature hepatocytes, not cholangiocytes. Both mouse and human

models have been used to show that hepatocytes undergo metaplasia to form biliary-like progenitor cells in a reversible process and proliferate into ducts in the periportal region of the hepatic lobule. In a 3,5-diethoxycarbonyl-1,4-dihydrocollidine DDC-injury setting, Fah^{-/-} mice were transplanted with ROSA-mTmG hepatocytes to explore the fate of mature hepatocyte in liver injury. To investigate this in human models, human hepatocyte transplantation into DDC-injured Fah-/- Rag2-/- II2ry/triple knockout mice was used. Additionally, hepatocyte-derived progenitors seem to be more efficient at hepatocyte differentiation when compared to biliary-derived progenitors in serial transplantation experiments.⁵⁰ Liver regeneration following toxin-induced injury indicated that hepatocytes were the main constituents of the facultative stem cell compartment.⁶³ When performing genetic fate tracing in mice with chronic liver injury, hepatocytes were not found to have originated from biliary epithelial cells. Instead, any hepatocytes detected were derived from pre-existing hepatocytes, indicating that progenitor cells do not contribute to regeneration.⁶⁴ Biliary-derived proliferative ducts (bilPDs) and hepatocyte-derived proliferative ducts formed during ductular reaction were functionally distinct and appeared to derive from different lineages, as shown by genome-wide expression profiling and organoid forming assays. This was despite equal expression of bile duct markers such as Sox9 and Hnf1b and similarities in morphology.⁵⁰ In human models, cdHPCs were unsuccessful in replacing the hepatocyte population without therapeutic enhancement, suggesting that the underlying molecular pathways are yet to be fully determined.⁶¹ It is also possible that in greater injury settings, progenitor or stem-like cells may exhibit bipotency to regenerate hepatocytes.⁶³

Despite the contradictory evidence on HPC-driven liver regeneration, it has been discovered that widespread hepatocyte senescence is required for cdHPCs to form hepatocytes. However, lineage tracing experiments involving mouse models do not typically resemble human liver disease as DRs are often accompanied by significant hepatocyte replication, failing to recapitulate human disease. Hepatocyte senescence increases during chronic liver damage, and therefore this needs to be accounted for when designing murine models. Recently, it has been shown that significant biliary-driven hepatocyte regeneration occurs when hepatocellular regeneration is impaired. Inhibiting hepatocyte proliferation via β 1-integrin knockdown, inducible deletion of Mdm2 or p21 overexpression resulted in HPC activation and the appearance of cholangiocyte-derived hepatocytes and DR. HPC transplantation into adult mouse livers where hepatocyte proliferation was impaired let to the restoration of liver parenchyma, regenerating both biliary epithelial cells and hepatocytes.^{57, 58} From this, it may be concluded that previous findings were not truly representative of human disease as hepatocyte-mediated regeneration was still occurring in the models used.

1.4 Background of IL-17

The IL-17 family of pro-inflammatory cytokines is comprised of six members: IL-17A, IL-17B, IL-17C, IL-17D, IL-17E (IL-25) and IL-17F. Although there are similarities in protein structure amongst all members of this cytokine family, IL-17A and IL-17F are more closely related, sharing 50-55% homology.^{65, 66}They are particularly essential in maintaining barrier immunity to bacterial and fungal infections.⁶⁷ These cytokines are almost exclusively produced by adaptive Th17 cells, a recently discovered effector CD4⁺ T cell that is independent of the traditional lineage of Th1 and Th2 cells.⁶⁸ However, it has been proposed that some innate immune cells can also produce IL-17. Innate lymphoid cells (ILC), more specifically, IL-17-expressing Type 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILC3), have been described as the innate counterparts of Th17 cells as they do not express an antigen receptor. Eosinophils, neutrophils, monocytes, CD8⁺ T cells (known as Tc17), $\gamma\delta$ T cells, natural killer T (NKT) and natural killer (NK) cells have also been found to contribute to IL-17 production. Furthermore, a subset of TCR $\delta\beta^+$ cells, termed 'natural' Th17 cells, have recently been shown to make this cytokine. It has been reported that myeloid cells produce IL-17, but the validity of this data has been brought into question.^{69, 70}



Figure 3: The IL-17 cytokine family. Schematic showing the IL-17 family members and their corresponding receptors.

1.4.1 The Role of IL-17 in the Immune System

Th17 cells mediate autoimmunity and are involved in the body's immune defence against pathogens.⁷¹ They form part of the CD4⁺ T cell effector response, secreting several pro-inflammatory cytokines. Naïve CD4⁺ T cells (Th0) differentiate into Th17 as a result of the combined actions of T cell receptor (TCR) stimulation in the presence of transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), IL-6, IL-21 and IL-23. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) activation then leads to ROR- γ T transcription factor expression.⁷² Negative regulation of Th17 can occur through IL-17E and IL-27 down-regulating IL-23 expression. These helper T cells are characterised by the secretion of IL-17A and F, IL-21, IL-22, which has been implicated in hepatoprotection, and tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α). The

release of these cytokines results in tissue inflammation and leukocyte recruitment via the induction of neutrophil-attracting chemokines, such as CXCL1, CXCL2 and CXCL8.^{70, 73} IL-17A is also able to induce the expression of the neutrophil-recruiting protein, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), as well as granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) in NK cells.^{69, 74} IL-17 signalling and the subsequent induction of cytokines and neutrophil chemokines is key to their biological effects. Dysregulated production of IL-17A, however, has been closely linked to driving inflammatory pathology in autoimmune diseases such as psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis and asthma.⁶⁷ This tissue inflammation occurs as a result of IL-17A-induced production of pro-inflammatory mediators by various cells, including macrophages, osteoblasts and endothelial or epithelial cells. On the other hand, IL-17A deficiency in mice has shown to cause resistance to some autoimmune diseases.⁷²

The primary role of IL-17 in the immune system's inflammatory response is to upregulate inflammatory gene expression, including cytokines (G-CSF, TNF- α , IL-6) chemokines (CXCL1, CXCL2 etc.), matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), inflammatory effectors (acute phase proteins, complement proteins) and antimicrobial proteins (mucins, defensins). The synergistic signalling capacity of IL-17A with other stimuli, such as TNF- α , lymphotoxin, IL-1 and interferon gamma (IFN- γ), facilitates its ability as a powerful inducer of inflammatory cytokines. Upregulation of inflammatory gene expression occurs either through inducing de novo gene transcription or stabilising target mRNA transcripts. These transcripts are stored in cytoplasmic granules, and can be translated or degraded rapidly, depending on the cell's need.⁶⁹

1.4.2 IL-17 Signal Transduction

The IL-17A receptor (IL-17RA) is vital to IL-17 signalling and is widely expressed in the liver. Its surface level expression correlates with the efficiency of IL-17A signalling, as well as the effects of IL-17F. It is expressed ubiquitously and can be further induced in haematopoietic cells and fibroblasts. Deletion of IL-17RA leads to the abrogation of downstream effects of IL-17A and IL-17F, however, the mechanisms behind IL-17 signalling are not yet fully understood. After the binding of IL-17 to its receptor, the association of Act1, a unique cytosolic adaptor, with the IL-17 receptor occurs. Act1 and IL-17R form a proximal signalling complex with TRAF6, with Act1 and TRAF6 functioning as E3 ubiquitin ligases. TRAF6 polyubiquitination and subsequent autoubiquitination is essential for IL-17-induced NF- κ B activation. The canonical NF- κ B pathway is activated, albeit weakly, by IL-17 signalling as the majority of target genes have essential NF-kB promoter elements. NF-kB forms a complex with IkB kinase (IKK) and is later released from this complex to allow its localisation to the nucleus. Induction of inhibitor of NF- κ B zeta (I κ B ζ) co-operates with NF- κ B to drive the transcription of numerous IL-17 target genes. I κ B ζ can also facilitate IL-17-induced gene expression by the suppression of miR-23b, which inhibits IL-17 signalling. In addition to NF-kB activation, the MAPK (mitogenactivated protein kinases) pathways are also induced by IL-17. This includes ERK, p38 and JNK pathways, but this response varies by cell background. The weak activation of NF-kB by IL-17 and its modest ability to induce inflammatory gene transcription highlights the importance of alternative pathways to indirectly control gene expression. This can be through the control of $I\kappa B\zeta$, or via IL-17-induced regulation of mRNA stability.69

The induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines via the synergistic actions of IL-17 and TNF α is the result of the stabilisation of inherently unstable mRNA transcripts, rather than through NF- κ B-mediated activation. Stabilisation of mRNA is controlled non-canonically. The primary pathway involved is the inducible phosphorylation of Act1, independent of TRAF6.⁷⁵ Act1 binds and stabilises the mRNA that encodes key inflammatory proteins. Its SEFIR domain binds to a SBE (SEFIR-binding element) in inflammatory genes such as the chemokine gene *Cxcl1*. This forms three distinct protein-RNA complexes (RNPs) that in turn regulate three different mRNA metabolism events: mRNA is prevented from decaying in the nucleus, mRNA decapping in P-bodies is inhibited, and translation is promoted. Although this enhanced inflammation is advantageous to the clearance of pathogens, it also plays a significant role in the pathology of severe inflammatory conditions.⁷⁶



Figure 4: IL-17A and the NF- κ **B pathway.** Schematic representation of the mechanistic relationship between IL-17A and the canonical and non-canonical NF-Kb pathways.

1.4.3 The Role of IL-17 in Chronic Liver Diseases

IL-17 and NAFLD

The IL-17A receptor, IL-17RA, is almost ubiquitously expressed in the liver by both liver resident cells and innate immune cells.^{67, 70} If production of IL-17A is dysregulated, this causes widespread IL-17RA activation and downstream signalling, resulting in an inflammatory response. This activation of the IL-17 axis may be a causal contributor to the pathogenesis of NAFLD. It has been reported that NAFLD in the context of obesity is associated with an increase in systemic and hepatic IL-17A expression. Furthermore, IL-17A has been associated with the occurrence of obesity, glucose dysmetabolism and hepatic injury. Interestingly, genetic deletion of IL-17RA in mice protected them from this glucose dysmetabolism, and combined with antibody-mediated neutralisation of IL-17A, were also protected from steatohepatitis and hepatocellular damage. In MCD-fed mice, which produce a NAFLD model, there was an increased expression of IL-17RA. This correlated with a notable increase in hepatic CD11b⁺F4/80⁺ macrophage infiltration. These macrophages also increasingly skewed towards a pro-inflammatory phenotype, producing high levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-12 and IL-23, and are characterised by their ability to phagocytose pathogens and present their antigens to T lymphocytes.77,78

As neutrophilic inflammation is a component of human NASH pathology, it is likely that the release of neutrophil-attracting chemokines by IL-17 is a contributing factor. IL-17 production is also widely known to regulate the process of neutrophil infiltration; its signalling leads to a greater response to inflammatory stimuli and

neutrophil recruitment. Dietary stress, which is common in NAFLD, also promotes myeloid cell recruitment to the liver.⁶⁷ Despite this, a study into the regulation of inflammation by IL-17A showed there was no significant difference in neutrophil infiltration during short-term MCD feeding. However, this may suggest that neutrophil infiltration only occurs in a more severe pathology, and therefore requires a longer-term MCD feed, or may indicate the suitability of the animal model.⁷⁷

IL-17A has also been shown to mediate neutrophil-dependent hepatocyte damage via ROS-driven oxidative stress. The combined effects of neutrophil infiltration and inflammation-associated ROS production induces injury in hepatic parenchymal cells. It has been suggested that steatosis sensitises hepatocytes, making them more susceptible to hepatocellular injury and fibrosis as a result of inflammation or oxidative stress.⁶⁷ NAFLD-associated inflammation is often characterised by the infiltration of macrophages and subsequent release of proinflammatory cytokines.⁷⁷ Interestingly, the dysregulation of lipid metabolism that occurs in NAFLD leads to the loss of CD4+ T lymphocytes via mitochondrial disruption, and was shown to accelerate hepatocarcinogenesis in both mouse models and human livers.⁷⁹

IL-17A and Fibrosis

IL-17A and its receptor, IL-17RA, also play a role in the development of fibrosis. The expression of IL-6, TGF- β and alpha smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) increased in CCl₄-induced fibrosis, alongside a significant increase in Th17 cell frequency.⁸⁰ IL-17RA^{-/-} mice show a critical attenuation of liver fibrosis in both bile-duct ligation and

CCI₄ models. Hepatic stellate cell (HSC) culture indicates that IL-17A directly stimulates their activation via STAT3, with Th17 cells also promoting the expression of α -SMA.⁷⁰ Significant upregulation of IL-17A gene expression in fibrotic livers may indicate IL-17A plays a role in activating hepatic stellate cells. The activation of isolated HSCs *in vitro* has been shown to be dependent on IL-17A, which acts through its receptor, IL-17RA, which is expressed on the surface of HSCs.⁸¹ In addition to this, IL-17A enhances the response of HSCs to TGF- β through increased receptor expression, in turn upregulating production of collagen type 1, α -SMA and TIMP-1.⁸² Collagen production in HSCs is stimulated by IL-17-mediated Stat3 activation. IL-17 triggers the nuclear localisation of phosphorylated Stat3, inducing collagen- α 1 (I) expression, which does not occur in Stat3-deficient HSCs.⁷⁰ From this, it appears that IL-17A activation of hepatic stellate cells involves both TGF- β and Stat3.

1.4.4 The Role of IL-17 in Other Pathologies

In addition to the liver, IL-17A is essential in facilitating inflammatory responses in various other organs. IL-17A plays a pathogenic role in hypertensive kidney disease-associated inflammation. Infusion of IL-17A in mice resulted in increased blood pressure that was associated with CD3⁺ and CD4⁺ T helper lymphocytes and neutrophilic kidney infiltration. Kidney biopsies from hypertensive nephrosclerosis patients showed a significant presence of IL-17A positive cells, predominantly Th17 and $\gamma\delta$ T cells.⁸³ In cardiovascular disease, the upregulation of the C/EBP pathway

through IL-17A and IL-17F signalling leads to atherosclerotic plaque instability, increased lesion size and inflammation through IL-6/G-CSF production, and myeloid cell recruitment. Some studies, however, argue that IL-17A can promote plaque stability by decreasing vascular cell adhesion protein (VCAM) expression and T cell infiltration.⁸⁴ This suggests that there is a fine line between the pathogenic and protective sides of IL-17 signalling. A role for IL-17A has also been shown in heart transplantation. Previous studies indicate that IL-17 contributes to the development of chronic rejection or cardiac allograft vasculopathy. Itoh et al show that IL-17A also accelerates acute allograft rejection by suppressing the expansion of regulatory T cells. In this context, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are responsible for the production of IL-17, rather than CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T lymphocytes.⁸⁵

1.4.5 The Role of IL-17A in Liver Regeneration

Chronic liver diseases are often associated with raised levels of infiltrated immune cells, such as IL-17⁺ cells as well as the expression of cytokeratin 19 (CK19) expressing cells. These two cell populations have been shown to co-localise and appear to increase in conjunction with each other. The number of IL-17-producing cells infiltrating the liver was also shown to correlate with the degree of DR.⁸⁶ This may indicate a role for IL-17 signalling in HPC activation and proliferation, supported by the discovery that cholangiocytes express the IL-17 receptors, IL-17RA and IL-17RC, as well as Act1.⁸⁷ Disruption of the IL-17 or IL-27 receptor genes also prevented HPC expansion and subsequent inflammation, highlighting the collaborative role of IL-17 and IL-27 in promoting HPC-driven regeneration.⁸⁶ In livers with alcoholic steatohepatitis (ASH), IL-17A-producing cells were discovered in close

proximity to HPCs, suggesting IL-17A signalling may be an important pathway in HPC biology.⁸⁸ When administered in mice following partial hepatectomy, IL-17 promoted liver regeneration, but when absent, led to reduced expression of regenerative growth factors and cell cycle regulators, slowing the regenerative process.⁸⁹ The protective, as well as pathogenic role that IL-17A plays in liver regeneration indicates there is a delicate balance that needs to be addressed when considering IL-17A as a therapeutic target. Understanding the mechanisms that underlie IL-17A signalling, and how this can be enhanced or inhibited to reach this balance is vital to achieve the aim of targeting IL-17A to promote liver regeneration.
1.5 The Role of Other Mediators in Liver Regeneration

1.5.1 Tumour Necrosis Factor-alpha (TNF- α)

Other mediators have been previously described as playing an essential role in the process of liver regeneration. Activation of the TNF- α receptor, TNFR1, induces cell death, inflammation and fibrosis. Interestingly, it also aids in hepatocyte survival and subsequent regeneration. TNF- α signalling via TNFR1 contributes to not only acute and chronic hepatic inflammation, but also remodelling of the fibrotic tissue, as well as tumorigenesis. TNF- α /TNFR2 activation can also promote these changes, although to a lesser extent.⁹⁰

TNFR1 is expressed ubiquitously throughout the liver. Once activated by TNF- α , it can lead to pro-inflammatory, cytotoxic and apoptotic outcomes. TNFR2, however, is found primarily on haematopoietic cells, and unlike TNFR1, lacks the intracellular death domain that induces TNFR1-dependent cell death. Multiple studies have shown that TNF- α -mediated signalling through TNFR1 is vital for inducing hepatocyte proliferation and regeneration. In *Tnfr1-/- Mdr2-/-* mice, the significant upregulation of several hepatic genes has been recorded.⁹⁰ The *Mdr2-/-* knockout mouse model leads to liver injury, biliary fibrosis, and sclerosing cholangitis through failure to secrete phosphatidylcholine into the bile.⁹¹ Compared to the *Mdr2-/-* mice, dKO mice had increased expression of *ll1b*, *ll23*, *Tgb1*, and *ll17a*. Upregulation of *lL17a*, alongside the transcription factor *Roryt*, indicates the presence of a Th17 population in the liver. Roryt is essential in inducing Th17 lineage fate, as well as in the regulation of *ll17a* transcription.⁹²

1.5.2 Lymphotoxin-beta Receptor (LTβR)

An additional core member of the TNF receptor superfamily, lymphotoxin-beta receptor (LT β R), is also involved in the liver's unique ability to regenerate following injury. LT β R is expressed on the stromal cells of lymphoid tissues, follicular dendritic cells, monocytes and dendritic cells. The importance of its ligands, LIGHT and LT $\alpha_1\beta_2$, in regulating liver homeostasis and liver regeneration, has also been highlighted. LT $\alpha_1\beta_2$ is expressed on activated T, B and NK cells.^{93, 94} Whilst TNFR1 solely signals through the rapid and transient canonical NF- κ B pathway, LT β R can also act via the non-canonical pathway. This signalling route is slower, but persistent, responding to TNFR signals to carry out more specific functions. LT β R activation can induce cytokine, chemokine or adhesion molecule expression, as well as regulate cell proliferation and survival.^{94, 95} Interestingly, the activation of LT β R by T cell-derived LT $\alpha_1\beta_2$ on mouse macrophages can downregulate pro-inflammatory cytokine expression by activating a signalling pathway that prevents the exacerbation of inflammatory cytokine production.⁹⁶

In the context of the liver, membrane bound $LT\alpha_1\beta_2$ is delivered to the regenerating liver by infiltrating T cells. Consequent $LT\beta R$ signalling activates the NF-KB signalling pathways in activated B cells. Mice deficient in $LT\beta R$ ($LT\beta R^{-/-}$) show a severely defective ability in surviving PHx. Marked liver damage and the inability to initiate DNA synthesis following partial hepatectomy was also noted.^{94, 97} In 70% PHx mice with this deficiency, liver regeneration was significantly compromised. This led

to decreased survival of LTβR^{-/-} mice when compared to WT animals, showing the important involvement of lymphocyte-restricted ligands in liver regeneration. In KO mice, the lack of Ki67 upregulation and the downregulation of cyclin D1 suggested that mice deficient in this receptor were unable to initiated synchronised hepatocyte cell division. Failure of these regeneration mechanisms may lead to a compensatory response through an increase in TNF and LTα expression. After PHx, serum TNF and IL-6 levels increase, which activate canonical and non-canonical NF- κ B pathways. However, mice functionally deficient in both pathways are unable to initiate liver regeneration. Cooperative TNFR/LTβR signalling via NF- κ B is therefore essential for efficient regeneration to occur.⁹⁵

Aside from these changes in cytokine expression, $LT\beta R^{-/-}$ mice also exhibited an imbalance in bile acid (BA) homeostasis in their regenerating livers. Increased ALP levels indicated that deficient mice had developed intrahepatic cholestasis, although the onset of regeneration was not delayed. In WT mice, BA were more hydrophilic, which are considered to be hepatoprotective, whereas $LT\beta R^{-/-}$ mice had significantly more toxic hydrophobic BA.⁹⁴ Bile acid signalling is mediated by the farnesoid X receptor (FXR) and is considered essential for an efficient liver regenerative response following injury.⁹⁸ RT-PCR analysis of liver tissue samples from $LT\beta R^{-/-}$ and WT mice showed an upregulation in *FXR* and *TGR5* expression in KO animals. TGR5 is a G-protein coupled bile acid receptor, and the marked upregulation of its transcription factor counterpart may demonstrate a compensatory mechanism to minimise the toxic effects of BA. Additionally, the increased expression of $LT\beta R$, *TGR5* and *FXR* on cholangiocytes may indicate that $LT\beta R$ -mediated signalling is important in BA homeostasis, especially during liver regeneration.⁹

1.5.3 A20

A20, also known as TNF- α protein 3, plays a key role in the regenerating liver. Originally characterised as a NF- κ B inhibitory signalling protein, A20 is now referred to as ubiquitin-regulating and potentially a susceptibility gene for inflammatory diseases. It also protects cells from TNF-induced cytotoxicity.⁹⁹ Following injury, inflammation or resection of the liver, hepatic expression of A20 increases as part of a protective response. Through the inhibition of NF- κ B activation and subsequent downregulation of cytokine production, A20 is able to reduce inflammation, protecting hepatocytes from apoptosis. Secondly, A20 acts to reduce oxidative stress by increasing the expression of peroxisome proliferated-activated receptoralpha (PPAR α) to enhance fatty acid oxidation, therefore also optimising energy production. A20 further induces a hepatoprotective response by promoting hepatocyte proliferation through a decrease in the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21, and by upregulating IL-6/STAT3-mediated signals.¹⁰⁰ The enhancement of IL-6/STAT3 signalling is achieved by decreasing suppressor of cytokine signal-3 (SOCS3) expression to promote liver regeneration. The release of IL-6 (and TNF- α) allows hepatocytes to enter the cell cycle and proliferate. This pathway is regulated by a negative feedback loop involving SOCS3, which if inhibited, leads to improved regeneration after PHx.¹⁰¹

Knockout of A20 in mice leads to sustained NF- κ B- dependent gene expression in the liver, hepatocyte apoptosis and premature lethality as a result of significant multiorgan inflammation. Mice deficient of this protective protein are subjected to excessive liver damage following partial hepatectomy, as shown by increased

plasma ALT, AST and Total Bilirubin.¹⁰⁰ SOCS3 expression also increases, attenuating IL-6/STAT3-mediated signalling to prevent hepatocyte proliferation and liver regeneration. This was shown by a lack of Ki67⁺ hepatocytes.^{101, 102} A20^{-/-} mice developed more significant steatosis, necrosis, and haemorrhage when compared to wild-type (WT) animals. Spontaneous development of chronic liver inflammation in mice lacking A20 expressive in liver parenchymal cells has also been reported, indicating its importance in normal liver tissue homeostasis.¹⁰² Overexpression of A20 promotes hepatocyte proliferation and improves survival, even after severe toxic or ischaemic injuries, and radical hepatectomy.¹⁰¹

This hepatoprotective protein is an essential player in the liver regenerative response. The combination of A20 knockout and partial hepatectomy leads to insufficient upregulation of cyclin D1. Prolonged upregulation of this protein is vital in initiating regeneration.¹⁰⁰ Interestingly, hepatocyte-specific A20 knockout mice were also more susceptible to chemically or high fat diet-induced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) development.¹⁰²

1.5.4 Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF) Signalling

The initiation of liver regeneration relies on the activation of the resident stem cell compartment to replace damaged hepatocytes and biliary cells following the loss of their proliferative capabilities. Hepatic progenitor cells (HPC) are widely thought to reside within the Canals of Hering, which are the terminal bile ductules of the liver.¹⁰³ Previous studies have highlighted the role of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and its receptor, MET, in maintaining HPC. Gene knockout studies confirmed the

upregulation of MET expression during early development and its role in liver organogenesis. MET is needed to stimulate progenitor cell proliferation, hepatocyte differentiation and apoptotic resistance.^{104, 105} In MET-defective HPC, expansion did not occur, and these progenitor cells were unable to commit to a hepatocyte lineage during chronic toxic liver injury.¹⁰⁶

1.5.5 Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF) Signalling

In addition to MET signalling, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is involved in mediating hepatic homeostasis.¹⁰³ Deregulation of EGFR signalling can be implicated in failure to initiate liver regeneration. *Egfr^{-/-}* mice exhibited a decrease in survival after partial hepatectomy. Liver regeneration following 70% PHx relies on sufficient HPC expansion to replace lost or damaged tissue.¹⁰⁷ Both MET and EGFR receptors activate during this process to trigger MAPK/ERK, PI3K/AKT and STAT3 pathways. These are essential in the control of proliferation, differentiation, motility regulation and protection against apoptosis. MET in particular strongly induces STAT3 and AKT activation, promoting HPC differentiation towards a hepatocyte lineage. The expansion of HPC and subsequent differentiation into cholangiocytes relies on EGFR-mediated NOTCH1 activation. This is also required in the process of branching morphogenesis. However, the loss of Egfr only resulted in NOTCH1 downregulation, attenuating *in vivo* and *in vitro* HPC differentiation towards cholangiocytes without affecting NOTCH2 expression. It is unknown whether liver regeneration, or even development, is affected by other notch receptors.¹⁰³ IL-17A has been linked to all these mediators in various ways. It has been reported that IL-17A-mediated activation of EGFR is critical in the expansion and migration of Lrig1⁺ stem cells in wound healing and skin tumorigenesis. Synergy between IL-17

and TNF- α transactivates EGFR and is also responsible for the activation of p38 MAPK and ERK pathways.¹⁰⁸ The interaction between IL-17A and the deubiquitinase A20 appears to be more inhibitory, particularly as A20 has been shown to interact directly with the inhibitory distal domain of IL-17RA. A mechanism for the A20-mediated feedback inhibition of IL-17RA signalling involving the E3 ubiquitin ligase TRAF6 and removal of ubiquitin from intermediates upstream of NF- κ B has also been described.¹⁰⁹ This evidence highlights a need for further investigations into the role of IL-17RA in liver stem cell activation and potential therapeutic targets to promote liver regeneration in CLD.



Figure 5: The relationship between IL-17A, A20, MET and EGFR.

Schematic showing the relationship between IL-17A, A20, MET and EGFR, and a summary of the potential pathways involved.

1.6 CD133 and IL-17

The relationship between IL-17A and CD133, a well-established cancer stem cell (CSC) marker, has been of recent interest. CD133, also known as PROM1, is a stem cell marker for both normal and cancerous tissues.¹¹⁰ It has also been associated with processes such as regeneration, differentiation and metabolism. In addition to being an important cancer biomarker, CD133 has been implicated in normal cell growth and development. There are various factors involved in CD133 expression regulation, including hypoxia (via hypoxia inducible factors), mitochondrial dysfunction, TGF- β 1, Notch, p53 and epigenetics.^{111, 112} The upregulation or downregulation of CD133 can have various effects. Knockdown of CD133 in head and neck cancer initiating cells (HNCIC) was shown to reduce OCT4 and NANOG gene expression, markers of stemness. Furthermore, this led to greater epithelial differentiation and the occurrence of apoptosis.¹¹³ Conversely, the increased expression of CD133 enhances the expression of Slug, N-cadherin and IL-1ß through NF- κ B activation, which are key in promoting epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) in tumour progression. The expression of cell migration factors, such as Akt and Wnt, are also upregulated due to CD133 forming complexes with EGFR and β -catenin.¹¹² Many of these processes are comparable to those seen in the microenvironment during liver regeneration, where the activation and expansion of a hepatic progenitor cell compartment is key in replacing damaged tissue. EGFR also appears to play a role here, acting synergistically with c-Met to promote the regenerative response, and similar to the role of N-cadherins in cell communication in a tumour microenvironment, integrin signalling mediates ECM and epithelial cell communication. Additionally, the upregulation of TGF- β 1 and the activation of Wnt/ β -

catenin signalling pathways are common to both HPC-driven liver regeneration and CD133*-associated tumour initiation.¹¹⁴ In the liver, CD133* cells isolated from a Huh7 hepatocellular carcinoma cell line were highly proliferative and expressed lower levels of mature hepatocyte markers than CD133⁻ cells of the same line. During early liver restoration in a 70% PHx mouse model, PROM1 was significantly upregulated.¹¹⁰ A similar occurrence was found in the peripheral blood of healthy individuals following partial hepatectomy. CD133-expressing haematopoietic progenitor cells could be detected, and when cultured *in vitro*, were capable of differentiating into hepatocytes.¹¹⁵ Interestingly, when co-cultured with lymphatic endothelial cells, CD133* hepatoma cells promoted the expression of IL-17A at an mRNA and protein levels, as well as IL-17A secretion, when compared to CD133⁻ cells.¹¹⁶ Conversely, IL-17A produced by the inflammatory tumour microenvironment was shown to stimulate the self-renewal of CD133* CSCs in ovarian cancer, although the idea that IL-17A directly upregulates CD133 expression was not investigated.¹¹⁷

The appearance of DRs during liver regeneration is considered to be representative of a stem cell response, with CD133⁺-expressing hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) playing a key role. Tube-like structures formed by CD133⁺ HSCs *in vitro* may correspond with the ductular structures formed during DR *in vivo*. Treatment of these cells with the cytokines hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), IL-6 and fibroblast-growth factor, FGF4, resulted in cells expressing typical hepatocyte markers such as alpha-fetoprotein (AFP), albumin and multidrug resistance-associated protein 2 (MRP2).¹¹⁵ These findings may indicate a role for CD133⁺ HSCs in the renewal of injured liver tissue, and as a progenitor cell compartment alongside cdHPCs. Additionally, the

upregulation of CD133 expression on biliary-derived proliferative ducts (bilPDs) suggests a link between CD133 and HPCs.⁵⁰ However, the exact relationship between CD133 and IL-17A, as well as with cdHPCs, has yet to be fully established.

1.7 Wnt and IL-17

What signalling is a highly conserved, complex pathway that is involved in various cellular processes throughout the body, including the regulation of stem cell survival and promotion of stemness. In the liver it has shown to be key in regulating liver development, differentiation and homeostasis, indicating its role in hepatic regeneration following injury. The canonical Wnt pathway and its central protein, β catenin may act to promote regeneration via its target gene, Sox9. It is widely thought that hepatocytes are generated from Sox9-precursors during tissue damage, and therefore may be involved in HPC-driven liver regeneration.¹¹⁸ CD133 expression has also been shown to activate the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway, and appears to play a functional role in renal tubular repair by regulating proliferation and controlling senescence.^{119, 120} Whether this can be applied to DR during liver regeneration or not needs to be explored. In addition to this, the relationship between Wnt and IL-17A is inconclusive. There have been several studies linking the proinflammatory cytokine to this developmental pathway, including evidence for Wnt/Bcatenin modulating IL-17A-altered macrophage polarisation.¹²¹ However, the majority focus on the impact of IL-17A in rheumatoid diseases, rather than CLD. IL-17 reportedly decreases bone formation via dampening of Wnt signalling in osteoblastic cells and Th17-induced senescent cells show altered Wnt signalling and tissue remodelling in response to injury in osteoarthritis.^{122, 123}

<u>AIMS</u>

- To identify the effect of IL-17A on cholangiocyte fate in vitro
- To investigate the expression and regulation of IL-17RA on cholangiocytes during ductular reaction
- To define the potential mechanisms in which IL-17A mediates ductular reaction

HYPOTHESIS

IL-17A drives the bipotency of cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cells to mediate ductular reaction during liver regeneration.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Immunofluorescence staining – CK19, IL-17A, Sox9

Slides of 5µm sections from mouse liver fixed in formalin were dewaxed in xylene for 3 x 3 minutes and rehydrated through alcohols (100%/70%/65%) for 3 minutes each. Slides were then washed in dH₂O before antigen retrieval. Slides were placed in prewarmed 0.01M Citrate Buffer pH 6.0 and heated in the microwave for 15 minutes. To prevent over-boiling and loss of tissue, there were regular breaks during the heating process. Once cooled with cold running water, slides were mounted in sequenza racks and washed with PBS. 200µl of GeneTex Trident Universal Protein Blocking Reagent (GTX30963) was then added for 30 minutes. A 1:400 dilution of rabbit anti-IL17 antibody (Cat. No. A00421-2) and 1:200 dilution of rat anti-CK19 antibody (DSHB AB 2133570) was prepared and 120µl added to each slide. For Sox9 immunofluorescence staining only, a 1:200 dilution of rabbit anti-Sox9 (Cat. No. AB5535) and a 1:500 dilution of donkey anti-rabbit (Alexa Fluor[®] 555, Cat. No. A21208) were used. These were incubated for 1 hour at RT, rinsed with PBS 3 times and 120µl of the secondary antibody mix was added, alongside a 1:200 dilution of DAPI. Secondary antibodies used were a 1:500 dilution of donkey anti-rabbit (Alexa Fluor[®] 555, Cat. No. A21208) and a 1:300 dilution of donkey anti-rat (Alexa Fluor[®] 488, Cat. No. A-31572). Slides were incubated for 30 minutes at RT, rinsed thoroughly and incubated for 5 minutes with 300µl of 0.5% Sudan Black B to reduce autofluorescence during imaging. 300μ l of 70% ethanol was used to rinse each slide, which were then washed further with PBS and mounted with Fluoromount G®

(Southern Biotech, Cat. No. 0100-01). Slides were imaged using a Zeiss Axioskop 40 microscope, Axiocam 305 color camera and Zeiss ZEN Pro microscopy software.

IL-17A treatment, cell harvesting and qPCR

Clonal-derived hepatic progenitor cells were treated with 20ng/mL Recombinant Murine IL-17A (Peprotech, Cat. No. 210-17) or with treatment-free media (DMEM supplemented with 1% FBS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin, Life Technologies, Cat. No. 31966-021) for 2 days. Following this, cells were harvested using 300µl of lysis buffer and 400µl/sample of 70% ethanol was used for RNA extraction, which was then quantified for cDNA synthesis. RNA was converted to cDNA by two-step RTqPCR using the Qiagen QuantiTect[®] Reverse Transcription Kit (Cat. No. 205310). 2µl of gDNA Wipeout Buffer was added to each sample and cDNA synthesis using a Bioer GeneTouch[™] Thermal Cycler for 10 minutes. The primer Master Mix, consisting of 5µl RT Buffer Mix and 1ul RT, was then added to each sample. DNA synthesis took place for 1 hour using the thermal cycler. A 1:10 cDNA dilution was prepared using nuclease-free water, with 4μ l of this solution used for each reaction. 8 Qiagen QuantiTect® Primer Assay primers were used (see Table 1); 1µl of each of these primers was mixed with 5µl SYBR[™] Select Master Mix and reacted with each cDNA sample. gPCR was subsequently performed using the Roche LightCycler 480, and the data was analysed using the -2ddCt method.

Primer	Cat. No.
Mm_Ppia_1_SG	QT00247709
Mm_Prom1_1_SG	QT01065162
Mm_Gpr49_1_SG	QT00123193
Mm_Klf5_2_SG	QT01057756
Mm_Catnb_1_SG	QT00160958
Mm_Ccnd1_1_SG	QT00154595
Mm_Nfkb1	QT00154091

Table 1: List of Qiagen QuantiTect[®] Primer Assay primers used in qPCR of cdHPCs

Tcf/Lef H2B GFP cell line

Tcf/Lef GFP cdHPCs, which were previously generated in the lab through the transfection with a Tcf/Lef: H2B-GFP plasmid (Addgene 32610), were used. The Tcf-Lef GFP Reporter cell line was cultured and treated with either 20ng/mL Recombinant Murine IL-17 (Peprotech, Cat. No. 210-17), 20ng/mL recombinant Wnt3a (R&D Systems, Cat. No. 5036-WN) or 1µM Bay 11-7082 (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat. No. 19542-67-7) for 2 days. Some cells did not receive any treatment to act as a control. After 2 days of treatment, cells were harvested using 300µl of TryPLE and transferred to a 96-well plate. 100µl of formalin, diluted 1:1 with PBS, was added to each well. The plate was incubated in the refrigerator for 10 minutes, washed with PBS and then the plate gently centrifuged at 300G for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded before PBS was added. Cells were then analysed using FACS.

Lymphocyte isolation and FACS analysis

Mouse livers were harvested and cut into fine pieces with scalpels. 15mL of PBS was added and the solution was passed through a 70µm cell strainer. Hank's salt solution and 100% Percoll were prepared with 10x Hank's Salt Solution, and further diluted with PBS, of which 7.5mL was added to each sample to make up a 33% Percoll working solution. Once thoroughly mixed, they were centrifuged at 700G for 20 minutes with 2x acceleration and 2x deceleration. The supernatant was discarded, and the liver samples washed with PBS before further centrifugation at 400G for 5 minutes. The supernatant was removed again, and 1-2mL of a 1:10 Lysis Buffer solution was mixed with the samples. The volume of Lysis Buffer used was dependent on the mass of each liver. After being placed on ice for 2 minutes, 10mL of PBS was added to halt the reaction and the samples were centrifuged again at 400G for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and 100µl of PBS was added to each liver sample. 80µl was transferred to each well of a V-bottom 96-well plate for FACS staining, and the remaining 20μ l used as the unstained sample in separate wells. 100µl of 1:1000 Zombie NIR Live Dead antibody (Cat. No. 423106) was mixed thoroughly with each stained sample and the plate incubated at 4°C for 5-10 minutes. The plate was then centrifuged for 4 minutes at 400G, and gently tipped to leave the pellets.

Spleens were pushed gently through the 70µm strainer using a syringe plunger, topped up with 10mL PBS and centrifuged using an MSE Mistral 2000 centrifuge at 400G for 5 minutes. A 1:10 Lysis Buffer solution was prepared, and 1mL was added to each spleen for 2 minutes whilst on ice. PBS was used to prevent further reaction, and the solution was centrifuged at 400G for 5 minutes. The supernatant was

discarded and the remaining pellet was placed on ice. 700μ I of PBS was added to the spleen sample and 45μ I was transferred to each single-stained well. 100μ I was used for the full-stained spleen and unstained spleen wells.

 50μ l of 2% FBS FACS Buffer was pipetted into each single-stained well. 50μ l of a 1:200 antibody mix, using the below FACS antibodies outlined in Table 2, was added to each liver sample and the stained spleen sample. 0.25μ l of each antibody was loaded into the individual single-stained wells. The plate was then incubated in the dark at 4°C for 30 minutes, washed with 70μ l of PBS and centrifuged. The supernatant was discarded and the plate gently vortexed for subsequent FACS analysis.

Intracellular staining

To stain for IL-17A, 50µl of a 1:3 dilution of fixation/permeabilisation concentrate (ThermoFisher Scientific 00-5523-00) was added to each well and the plate incubated for 30 minutes. A 1:10 dilution of permeabilisation buffer was prepared and 100µl pipetted into the wells before being centrifuged. 50µl of a 1:200 IL-17A antibody solution was added to the full-stained liver and spleen samples, as well as the single-stained well for IL-17A. After a 30-minute incubation, the plate was washed and centrifuged. 200µl of FACS buffer was added to each well and transferred to FACS tubes.

FACS Antibodies			
Epitope	Conjugate	Cat. No.	
CD3	AF700	100216	
CD4	PE	100512	
CD8	Percp	100731	
CD45	AF488	103121	
CD11b	BV510	101263	
NK1.1	BV650	108736	
F4/80	BV711	123147	

Table 2: List of FACS antibodies used in lymphocyte analysis

Cholangiocyte isolation and FACS staining

Dissected mouse livers were minced with scissors and a scalpel until tissue pieces were very small, but not too fine as to disrupt bile duct structure. At the same time, digest media was made and pre-warmed in a water bath at 37°C. Using 0.125 mg/mL collagenase from *Clostridium histolyticum* (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat. No. C9407), 0.125 mg/mL dispase II (Life Technologies, Cat. No. 17105-041) and wash media (DMEM supplemented with 1% FBS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin, Life Technologies, Cat. No. 31966-021), 50mL of digest media was prepared. The minced tissue was collected with a 10mL serological pipette and placed in a falcon tube with cold wash media. The tube was inverted several times and then spun at 100G for 1 minute. Once the supernatant was aspirated, 15mL of digest media was added and the tube shaken to resuspend the tissue. The tube was then placed sideways in a shaker incubator and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C and 200rpm. During and after incubation, the solution was pipetted up and down with a serological pipette to ensure digestion. It was then spun again at 120G for 2 minutes, the supernatant

aspirated and resuspended in 10mL digest media. The tissue was checked under a microscope to make sure the material consisted mainly of clean small ductules. Once checked, the tissue was returned to the shaker for a further 30 minutes at a slower speed of 160rpm. A 7x TryPLE Express (Life Technologies, Cat. No. 12605-028) was prepared by mixing 1.5mL 1x and 3.45mL 10x solutions and placed in the water bath. Once incubated, the tissue was pipetted up and down, spun at 120G for 4-5 minutes and the supernatant aspirated before being resuspended in 5ml of the pre-warmed TyrPLE solution. This was pipetted up and down with a glass Pasteur pipette several times and incubated in the water bath at 37°C for 10 minutes. After 9 minutes, the tube was removed and pipetted for a further 1 minute. To stop the reaction, 30mL of wash media was added and the solution spun at 300G for 5 minutes. The supernatant was aspirated, and the remaining solution resuspended in 3ml of wash media. This was then filtered through a 40μ m filter and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 320G. For MCD-injured livers, the filtering step was repeated twice. Following centrifugation, the remaining pellet could then be used for FACS staining. The same FACS protocol for lymphocyte staining was used for cholangiocytes. A 1:100 dilution of the following antibodies (see Table 3) was used to identify cholangiocytes and detect the expression of IL-17RA. Antibodies against CD45, CD31 and Ter119 were used as a lineage panel (LIN).

FACS Antibodies			
Epitope	Conjugate	Cat. No.	
CD45	AF488	103121	
CD31	AF488	102414	
Ter119	FITC	116205	
CD133	BV421	141213	
EpCAM	APC	118214	
IL17RA	N/A	MAB4481	

Table 3: List of FACS antibodies used in cholangiocyte analysis

Cholangiocyte cell culture and FACS staining

Cholangiocytes were cultured in Gibco Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) with 10% FCS. To prepare for FACS staining and analysis, plates were rinsed with PBS and incubated with 300µl TryPLE for 10 minutes. Following incubation, cell plates were washed gently to prevent cell loss and cholangiocytes were collected in an Eppendorf. The solution was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 300G and transferred to a 96-well plate. The FACS staining protocol for cholangiocytes was then used, with the above antibodies outlined in Table 3.

Migration/Wound healing/Scratch Assay

Cultured cdHPCs were divided into three groups of 6 wells, with each acting as a control, treated with 20ng/mL IL-17A or Recombinant Murine TNF- α (PeproTech, Cat. No. 315-01A). Prior to the scratch assay, 5µg of mitomycin C was added into 12 wells for 2 hours to inhibit proliferation. A 1:1000 dilution was used for both IL-17A and TNF- α , and 300µl of these solutions were pipetted into each well. Cells were treated for 2 days before washing and replacement with treatment-free media. The

base of each well was then scratched using a P200 pipette tip to imitate a wound and images of these cells were taken at four timepoints: 0h, 4h, 8h and 24h.

Mitomycin C Treatment and MTT Assay

Cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cells were grown to 50% to 70% confluence, transferred to a 96-well plate and incubated in 10µg/mL Mitomycin C (Alfa Aesar, Cat. No. 2J63193) for 2 hours. For cells pre-treated with IL-17A, this was done for 2 days at a concentration of 20ng/mL. After incubation, cells were washed with PBS and cultured for 48h to 72h in DMEM + 10% FCS culture medium. A separate plate was used for time zero analysis. Following the treatment period, 10µl of 0.5 mg/mL MTT labelling reagent (Tocris, Cat. No. 5224) was added to each well and incubated at 37°C5% CO₂ for 4h. 100µl of DMSO was then added to each well and pipetted to ensure thorough mixing. The plate was incubated in the dark for 15 minutes and pipetted again to fully dissolve the MTT formazan. The plate was then read using a Bio-TEK Synergy HT plate reader at 570 and 650nm.

Animal Models – MCD and Mdm2-/-

C57BL/6J mice were used for *in vivo* experiments and to produce the MCD and Mdm2 knockout models. Male wild-type (WT) mice were given the MCD diet for 3 weeks before being culled. Mdm2^{fl/fl} mice received 1x10¹¹ GC of AAV8-Cre and culled at day 7. Murine studies were performed under the project licence of Dr Wei-Yu Lu (PPL number: P546F8E91), with the help of Dr Lu and Dr Naruhiro Kimura.

Antibody	Cat. No.
Rabbit anti-IL17	A00421-2
Rat anti-CK19	DSHB AB_2133570
Rabbit anti-Sox9	AB5535
Donkey anti-rabbit, Alexa Fluor [®] 555	A21208
Donkey anti-rat, Alexa Fluor [®] 488	A-31572
Zombie NIR Live Dead	423106
CD3 AF700	100216
CD4 PE	100512
CD8 Percp	100731
CD45 AF488	103121
CD11b BV510	101263
NK1.1 BV650	108736
F4/80 BV711	123147
CD45 AF488	103121
CD31 AF488	102414
Ter119 FITC	116205
CD133 BV421	141213
EpCAM APC	118214
IL17RA	MAB4481

Table 4: Summary table of antibodies used in this investigation

RESULTS

IL-17A expression is increased during liver injury in Mdm2^{flox/flox} mouse livers

Liver sections from healthy and Mdm2 knockout mouse livers were stained with antibodies against CK19 and IL-17. Mdm2^{flox/flox} mice received PBS as the control for this experiment to ensure accurate staining. The number of IL-17A⁺ cells in each group, as shown by orange fluorescence, were counted to signify the extent of IL-17A expression by immune cells localised to hepatocytes and cholangiocytes, as indicated by green fluorescence. There was a small number of IL-17A⁺ cells in healthy mouse livers, however a significant increase in cells positive for IL-17A was seen in Mdm2 knockout mouse livers compared to both control and healthy livers.



Figure 6: Greater expression of IL-17A is seen in Mdm2^{-/-} mouse livers

Immunofluorescent staining of 5µm liver sections from healthy and Mdm2 knockout mice using anti-CK19 and anti-IL17 antibodies, as shown by green and orange fluorescence, respectively. DAPI nuclear staining is shown by blue fluorescence. **A)** Control liver section showing no antibody control, with DAPI staining only. **B)** Healthy liver section stained with DAPI, anti-CK19 and anti-IL17 show several areas of IL-17A⁺ cells. **C)** Liver section from Mdm2^{-/-} mice showing an increase in the number of IL-17A⁺ cells. **D)** Graph showing the cell count positive for IL-17A in control, healthy and Mdm2^{-/-} livers, and a significant increase in livers from Mdm2^{-/-} mice. Control vs Mdm2^{-/-}, *p*=0.002; healthy vs Mdm2^{-/-}, *p*=0.0030; error bars, \pm SEM.

IL-17A expression increases in multiple immune cell subsets during liver disease

The expression of IL-17A by a range of lymphocyte populations in healthy mice, as well as mice fed an MCD diet to mimic liver disease, was quantified using flow cytometry and subsequent FACS analysis. The gating strategy of IL-17A was based on unstained controls and Fluorescence Minus One (FMO. A significant upregulation in IL-17A expression by CD11b^{Hi} F480⁻ monocytes and CD11b⁺ Ly6G⁺ neutrophils could be seen in the diseased fatty livers of MCD-fed mice, when compared with healthy mouse livers. Neutrophil expression of IL-17A was almost non-existent in a healthy setting (0.43%), but in the context of liver disease in mice, 6.53% of this population were shown to express IL-17A. Although monocyte expression of IL-17A was upregulated in a disease setting, with 3.88% of this population expressing IL-17A, the greatest expression of IL-17A was seen in the neutrophil population in fatty livers. Expression levels of IL-17A did not change significantly in CD4⁺ T-cells, CD8⁺ T-cells or CD11b^{lo}F480⁺ macrophages when comparing healthy and MCD-fed mice.



Figure 7: IL-17A expression by CD11b^{Hi} F480⁻ monocytes and CD11b⁺ Ly6G⁺ neutrophils is greater in MCD mice.

A) Upregulation of IL-17A expression by CD4⁺ cells in MDC-fed mice, compared to healthy mice was not significant. **B)** No difference in expression of IL-17A by CD8⁺ cells between healthy and diseased animals. **C)** A significant increase in IL-17A expression by CD11b^{Hi} F480⁻ cells in MCD-fed mice was seen, *p*=0.0297. **D)** No significant upregulation of IL-17A was seen in CD11b^{Lo}F480⁺ macrophages in MDC mice compared to healthy. **E)** IL-17A expression by Ly6G⁺IL17A⁺ neutrophils was significantly upregulated in the MCD population, *p*=0.0041. Error bars, \pm SEM. Healthy cohort, n= 3; MCD cohort, n=5.

IL-17RA expression increases in CDHPCs isolated from diseased livers

To investigate whether cholangiocytes express the receptor for IL-17A, the expression of the dominant IL-17 receptor, IL-17RA was investigated. Cholangiocytes were isolated by FACS from the livers of healthy mice and the fatty liver disease model, MCD. LIN (CD45, CD31, Ter119) antibody staining was used to exclude haematopoietic cells and endothelial cells, and the hepatic progenitor cells within the cholangiocyte population were isolated based on EpCAM⁺ and CD133⁺. From FACS analysis, the percentage of the non-parenchymal, LIN- population, which includes cholangiocytes, was higher in the MCD-treated mice, when compared to healthy mouse livers. Approximately 66.0% of cells were LIN⁻, whereas only 25.8% were LIN⁻ in healthy mice, suggesting a general increase in non-parenchymal cell populations, such as stellate cells and cholangiocytes during liver injury (Fig. 8A). The percentage of EpCAM⁺CD133⁺ cells was similar in both healthy and MCDfed mice. Considering that livers from MCD-fed mice have an influx of a LIN⁻ nonparenchymal cell population, the proportion of EpCAM⁺CD133⁺ was greater in the livers of MCD-fed mice, compared to the healthy group after normalising to the sample's total cell number (Fig. 8C). The expression of IL-17RA in healthy and fatty livers is similar, with approximately 40% of cholangiocytes expressing the IL-17 receptor. This level remained unchanged with injury (Fig. 8D). To further explore whether IL-17RA is preferentially expressed on the previously reported liver progenitor cells that express EpCAM and CD133, this data was also normalised to the total cell number in the sample. This showed that after injury, these progenitor cells increase surface expression of IL-17RA, suggesting the involvement of IL-17RA *in vivo* during liver progenitor cell activation (Fig. 8E).



Figure 8: Expression of IL-17A is greater in CDHPCs isolated from MCD-fed mice.

A) Significant increase in LIN-cells isolated from the livers from MCD mice, $p \le 0.0001$ B) No significant change in % of EpCAM⁺CD133⁺ cells was seen in healthy and MCDtreated livers. C) Pooled response rate analysis showing the increase in the % of LIN-EpCAM⁺CD133⁺ cells in MCD livers compared to healthy livers. D) No significant change in % of IL17RA⁺EpCAM⁺ was seen in healthy and diseased livers. E) Pooled response rate analysis showing the increase in the % of EpCAM⁺CD133⁺IL17RA⁺ cells seen in MCD livers compared to healthy liver expression. Error bars, \pm SEM. Healthy cohort, n= 3; MCD cohort, n=5.

Maintenance of cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cells (cdHPCs)

To investigate the effect of IL-17 on hepatic progenitor cells, I used the previously established hepatic progenitor cell line, cdHPC from Lu et al.⁴⁵ To ensure the cells used in subsequent experiments maintain a hepatic progenitor cell (HPC) phenotype, they were expanded in vitro and imaged using Brightfield microscopy. These cells were characterised by immunofluorescent staining with antibodies against progenitor markers CK19 and Sox9. CK19 is a key marker for cholangiocytes and alongside Sox9, the earliest and most dominant transcription factor that controls bile duct development with Sox4. The expanded cells maintain the morphology of epithelial cells, and the expression of CK19 and Sox9 indicates the expanded cells are maintained as HPCs in vitro (Fig. 9A, B, C). This could then be used as the basis for an in vitro model investigating the effect of IL-17 on biliary epithelial cells and cholangiocyte derived hepatic progenitor cells.

BrightfieldCK19Sox9ABCImage: Compare the second s

Figure 9: Brightfield and immunofluorescent images of expanded mouse cholangiocytes.

Brightfield and immunofluorescent microscope images of *in vitro* expanded mouse cholangiocytes. Cultured cells were imaged using light microscopy and fluorescent antibodies for CK19 and Sox9. **A**) Brightfield image of cultured, unstained mouse cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cells. **B**) Immunofluorescence staining of cholangiocyte marker CK19. **C**) Immunofluorescence staining of cholangiocyte marker Sox9. Objective = x20; scale: 50μ m.

IL-17 enhances CD133 expression and upregulates cdHPC proliferation

cdHPCs were cultured and treated either with DMEM media as a control or DMEM media containing 10ng/mL IL-17 for 2 days. Following IL-17 treatment, cells were harvested, and qPCR analysis was performed. This analysis showed the upregulation of several key proliferative markers following treatment with IL-17, including *Ki67*, *Ccnd1*, accompanied by the upregulation of hepatic progenitor cell-related genes *Sox9* and *Klf5* when compared to untreated cells. Significant upregulation was seen in *Ccnd1*, a gene responsible for controlling cell cycle progression through G1 phase, and *Klf5*, a key transcription factor, which is involved in various roles, from controlling stem cell activation and proliferation, to cell cycle progression. More importantly, treatment of cdHPCs with IL-17 resulted in a five-fold increase in *Prom1* expression, the mouse homologue of CD133, which is shown to be a marker for cell stemness. This indicated that the presence of IL-17A upregulates CD133 at transcription level, which might determine the cell fate of HPCs.



Figure 10: IL-17 treatment upregulates CD133 expression and proliferative markers in cdHPCs.

cdHPCs were treated with IL-17 for 2 days and analysed using qPCR primers for Prom1 and various proliferative markers. **A)** The expression of *Prom1* (CD133) to *Ppia*, as shown by the fold change. Significant upregulation of *Prom1* was seen in IL-17A-treated cells compared to the control, p=0.0005 n=4. **B)** Expression of *Ki67* was greater in cells treated with IL-17A but was not statistically significant, n=4. **C)** Nonsignificant upregulation of *Sox9* in cdHPCs treated with IL-17A, n=4. **D)** Increased expression of *Ccnd1* relative to the housekeeping gene, *Ppia* in the IL-17 group, p=0.0312, n=4. **E)** Significant upregulation of Klf5 in treated cells, compared to untreated cells, p=0.005, n=4. Error bars, \pm SEM.

IL-17 upregulates factors involved in the Wnt signalling pathway

In addition to IL-17-related upregulation of proliferative markers, factors involved in the Wnt signalling pathway were also upregulated as a result of IL-17 treatment. *Nfkb1*, *Gpr49*, *Catnb1* and *Rela* expression increased, with significant upregulation seen in *Nfkb1*, which is responsible for crosstalk with Wnt/ β -catenin pathway in inflammation, and *Gpr49*, the gene for a G protein-coupled receptor, which encodes the Wnt co-receptor Lgr5 that controls stem cell activation in epithelial organs. Although the upregulation of *Catnb* and *Rela* in cells receiving IL-17 treatment, which codes for the production of the Wnt signal transducer β -catenin and the p65 subunit of the NF- κ B complex, respectively, was not statistically significant, qPCR analysis indicates that IL-17 could control Wnt and NF- κ B signalling in in vitro expanded HPCs.



Figure 11: IL-17 treatment upregulates the expression of Wnt signalling factors in cdHPCs.

cdHPCs were treated with IL-17 for 2 days and expression of markers related to the Wnt signalling pathway was detected using qPCR analysis. **A)** Significant increase in *Nf*_K*b* expression in IL-17-treated cells, *p*=0.025, n=4. **B)** Upregulated expression of *Catnb1* seen in the treated group, but not statistically significant, n=4. **C)** Marked upregulation of *Gpr49* was detected in IL-17 -treated cells, when compared to the control group, *p*=0.0373, n=4. D) Nonsignificant expression increase of *Rela* in treated cells, n=4. Error bars, \pm SEM.

IL-17A treatment enhances CD133 expression in cdHPCs

To further show the upregulation of CD133 caused by IL-17A supplementation at a translational level, a modification of the cdHPC line was used. This established line in the laboratory was transfected with TCF-LEF GFP plasmid that allows the visualisation of Wnt signalling activation through its GFP expression. Flow cytometry analysis of the TCF-LEF GFP reporter cell line revealed that 8.50% of cdHPCs expressed both CD133 and GFP, whilst 3.91% are Wnt inactive, as indicated by the lack of GFP expression. All hepatic progenitor cells were treated either with control or IL-17A, to establish their effects on CD133 expression. Following IL-17A treatment, an almost 2-fold increase in cells that express the CD133 protein, when compared to the untreated cells, was observed (Fig. 12B). To further investigate whether the expression of CD133 is linked to the level of Wnt signalling, GFP expression was investigated in the CD133⁺ expressing population. In CD133⁺GFP⁺ cells, there was an improved response to IL-17A treatment, when compared to the GFP cells alone (2-fold vs 1.5-fold) (Fig. 12C, D). These show that Wnt⁺ cells respond better to IL-17A treatment.



Figure 12: IL-17 treatment of cdHPCs upregulates CD133 expression with enhanced response in Wnt⁺ cells.

A TCF-LEF GFP reporter cell line was treated with IL-17A, IL-17A + NF κ BI and Wnt and analysed using FACS and qPCR. **A)** Representative analysis of the gating. **B)** Percentage of CD133⁺ cells after treatment with IL-17A, *p*=0.0064, and IL-17A + NF κ BI, *p*=0.0009. **C)** Percentage of GFP⁺CD133⁺Wnt⁺ cells, *p*=0.0179, and in IL-17A + NF κ BI treated cells, *p*=0.0084. **D)** Percentage of cells that respond to IL-17A treatment, *p*=0.0067, and IL-17A + NF κ BI, *p*=0.0134, was seen in Wnt⁻ cells. Error bars, ± SEM.

cdHPCs treated with IL-17A have a slower cell migration/healing response

A wound healing, or scratch assay, was performed in untreated cdHPCs to investigate the effect of IL-17A on cell migration. Cells were treated with either IL-17A or TNF- α to assess the impact of IL-17A on cellular proliferation and/or migration over a 24-hour period. At both 4h and 8h, cells treated with IL-17A exhibited a smaller % change in migration than cells in the TNF- α and control groups. By 4h, the wound in untreated cdHPCs had healed almost halfway (44%), whereas TNF- α -treated cells and IL-17A -treated cells had only healed by 37% and 27%, respectively. By 8h, untreated, TNF- α -treated and IL-17A-treated cells had healed by 61%, 51% and 42%, respectively. Despite IL-17A -treated progenitor cells having a slower healing response, by 24h, the % change from starting for all cells was approximately the same.



cdHPCs.

cdHPCs were treated with either IL-17A or TNF- α for 2 days, or left untreated, and then the well surface scratched to create a wound. The healing response was monitored by measuring the wound diameter at 0h, 4h, 8h and 24h. The percentage change in diameter was then calculated. **A)** Brightfield images of cdHPC wound healing response over a 24h period. **B)** Graph showing that IL-17A-treated cells exhibited a slower healing response than cells in the TNF- α and untreated groups. By 24h, wounds had healed to a similar point in all three groups. Objective = x10; scale: 50µm.
Mitomycin C treatment inhibits cdHPC proliferation

Untreated cells and those treated with mitomycin C and left to culture for 48 hours were also treated with MTT formazan to perform an MTT assay. The relative absorbance in cdHPCs post-mitomycin C treatment was lower than in the untreated cells of the control group. This shows that treating cdHPCs with mitomycin C leads to a decrease in cellular proliferation.



Figure 14: cdHPC proliferation is inhibited following mitomycin C treatment.

An MTT assay of cdHPCs treated with mitomycin C for 48h, and untreated cells, was analysed using absorbance levels at time zero and following MTT formazan treatment. Mitomycin C-treated cells showed a greater cell loss and lack of proliferation when compared with the control group.

IL-17A treatment promotes cdHPC proliferation

An MTT assay was also performed on cdHPCs pre-treated with IL-17A to show the effect IL-17A has on the proliferation of these progenitor cells. Following IL-17A supplementation, the absorbance levels were significantly higher than those in the untreated control group. Greater absorbance in IL-17A-treated cdHPCs indicates the cell number in these wells increased and were therefore proliferating.



Figure 15: cdHPC proliferation increases following IL-17A treatment.

An MTT assay of cdHPCs treated with IL-17A for 2 days prior and compared to untreated cells. Greater absorbance levels in IL-17A-treated cells indicate an increase in cell number due to cdHPCs proliferating, $p \le 0.01$, n=9.

Investigating the optimum dose of BAY 11-7082 (NF-κB inhibitor) on cdHPCs

Prior to carrying out experiments to determine the relationship between IL-17A and Wnt signalling, the optimum dose of NF- κ B inhibitor was investigated to prevent cell death. This was needed after the occurrence of cell death following treatment with 5/10 μ M (data not shown). Hepatic progenitor cells were treated with a range of concentrations: 0, 40nM, 200nM, 1 μ M and 5 μ M and cultured for 24h, with regular check-ups. When compared to untreated cells, as seen in Fig. 16, 40nM, 200nM (data not shown) and 1 μ M BAY did not appear to cause any cell disintegration and death in cdHPCs. However, a dose escalation to 5 μ M BAY resulted in cell apoptosis and subsequently, death.



Figure 16: Dose finding experiment to determine the optimum dose of BAY on cdHPCs.

A) Brightfield microscope image of untreated cdHPCs after 24h, showing cell morphology unchanged. **B)** Image of cdHPCs after treatment with 1 μ m BAY showed little change in morphology. **C)** Altered morphology and apparent disintegration of cell structures shown using light microscopy in CDHPCs treated with 5 μ m BAY. Objective = x10; scale: 50 μ m.

Inhibiting NF-κB downregulates CD133 protein expression in cdHPCs

To investigate the effect of inhibiting NF- κ B on the protein expression of CD133 in cdHPCs, cells were treated with IL-17A and the NF- κ B inhibitor, BAY117082 and analysed using flow cytometry. A low percentage of CD133+ cells was detected in the untreated control group, however, when cells were supplemented with IL-17A, the protein expression of CD133 increased significantly, resulting in a three-fold increase in expression with approximately 30% of cells being CD133⁺. In the presence of NF- κ B inhibitor, the expression of CD133 was dampened in cdHPCs. Increasing the treatment concentration of NF- κ B inhibitor in cdHPCs led to greater downregulation of CD133 was comparable to control levels, and therefore IL-17A-induced CD133 protein expression was inhibited by treating cells with NF κ BI. This indicates that both IL-17A and the NF- κ B pathway are required for CD133 expression in cdHPCs.



Figure 17: CD133 protein expression following IL-17A and NF- κ B inhibitor treatment of cdHPCs.

FACS analysis of cdHPCs treated with IL-17A and NF- κ B inhibitor showed increased CD133 protein expression after IL-17A treatment, but downregulation in the presence of NF- κ B inhibitor, when compared to control groups. Control: n=5; treated groups: n=3.

DISCUSSION

From this investigation, it is clear there is a substantial role for IL-17A in the activation of liver stem cells and subsequent liver regeneration. This role appears to be varied and involve several pathways, including NF- κ B, Wnt/ β -catenin and a pathway involving the cancer stem cell biomarker, CD133. Using an Mdm2^{-/-} mouse model to induce p53-driven apoptosis and p21-driven hepatic senescence, IL-17A expression was shown to increase during liver damage when compared to a healthy liver model. The upregulation of IL-17A during liver damage indicates that IL-17A secretion is injury-dependent and is an important part of the immune response involved in regeneration. The immunofluorescence staining also showed that the immune cells secreting IL-17A were situated close to hepatocytes and cholangiocytes, supporting the suggestion that IL-17A is associated with the hepatocyte/cholangiocyte regenerative response. Staining of liver sections from MCD-fed mice would give a more accurate representation of IL-17A upregulation during liver stem cell activation in NAFLD. However, as the MCD model results in fatty deposits, which can be seen throughout stained sections, this can obscure the expression of IL-17A. Therefore, using the Mdm2^{-/-} model, whilst not producing the same liver damage response associated with steatosis, is preferable to ensure IL-17A staining can be visualised.

In vitro treatment of cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cells with IL-17A promotes the proliferation of these cells, an essential component of any regenerative response. The upregulation of *Ki67*, *Sox9*, *Ccnd1* and *Klf5* in CDHPCs exposed to IL-17A indicates that cdHPC proliferation is a consequence of the IL-17-induced

inflammatory response, which occurs during chronic liver damage. As the IL-17A receptor is expressed on cholangiocytes, it is likely that IL-17A acts via these receptors. This proliferative response supports the hypothesis that cdHPCs are key in regenerating injured hepatocytes and cholangiocytes. Expansion of this progenitor cell population is needed for the transdifferentiation of cdHPCs into hepatocytes and cholangiocytes to replace these cell populations, whilst also retaining a progenitor cell compartment. As shown by qPCR analysis, multiple points in the cell cycle are upregulated to promote this expansion. Ki67 is a well-established proliferative marker of cholangiocytes, and therefore its presence is not unexpected. The upregulation of Sox9, a cholangiocyte marker, is also expressed by so-called ductular reactive cells (DRCs). In long-term DDC treatment, a growing number of SOX9+ hepatocytes and hepatobiliary cells were observed, presumably arising from DRCs.¹²⁴ Additionally, Furuyama et al showed Sox9⁺ precursors were involved in liver regeneration and concluded that Sox9 expression was an indicator of progenitor status. Using cell-specific genetic lineage tracing following tamoxifen injection into adult mice and subsequent liver damage, this group showed that hepatocytes were differentiated from the Sox9⁺ precursor population in the biliary tree. They also concluded that Sox9-expressing hepatic progenitors were capable of self-renewal.¹²⁵ This capacity to self-renew relies on a marked proliferative response, as shown in the qPCR analysis from this investigation. Furthermore, it would be interesting to explore the effects on this population following IL-17 manipulation.

Previously, Klf5 has been shown to be important in regulating the function of the intra and extrahepatic biliary tract.¹²⁶ qRT-PCR analysis has also revealed the expression of *Klf5* in the liver and its marked upregulation following DDC injury, alongside

Epcam, a cholangiocyte marker. Interestingly, *Klf5* expression was predominantly found in the compartment containing EpCAM⁺ biliary epithelial cells, or cholangiocytes. This supports the finding here that IL-17-induced injury in cdHPCs is accompanied by a significant increase in Klf5 expression. Whilst knockout of Klf5 alone did not cause significant differences in cholangiocyte *Klf5* expression between animals, the addition of DDC led to increased mortality, cholestasis, and the suppression of ductular reaction, showing *Klf5* plays an important role in activation of the regenerative response.¹²⁷ In a *K5-Cre*; *Klf5*^{*fl/fl*} mouse model with a background of PSC, histological analysis of livers revealed intrahepatic bile duct proliferation, peribiliary fibrosis, inflammation, and hepatocyte necrosis. This was accompanied by the infiltration of T cells into the liver parenchyma, as well as a progressive increase in Sox9⁺ parenchymal cells. These Sox9-expressing cells were initially found near the biliary tract, before expanding their expression throughout liver parenchyma as the disease progressed.¹²⁶ A role for Klf5 in the self-renewability of colon cancer progenitor cells has also been identified. Klf5-driven activation of Ascl2 was essential for the self-renewal of these progenitor cells, which were also CD133+, indicating that Klf5 may also play a role in driving cholangiocyte to cdHPC transdifferentiation through the expression of CD133.¹²⁸ These findings may explain the upregulated expression of Klf5 and Sox9 in cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cells when subjected to IL-17 treatment, as well as the importance of Klf5 for ductular reaction and Sox9 for cholangiocyte to hepatocyte transdifferentiation as part of the injury response. However, there is lack of research into the roles of both Sox9 and Klf5 in liver stem cell activation, and the results from these investigations, as well as this study, indicate that these factors play an essential role in liver regeneration.

The upregulated expression of *Ccnd1* in cdHPCs following IL-17A treatment may suggest its relevance in the liver's regenerative response, but evidence for this is limited. *Ccnd1* activation has been shown in three separate liver regeneration models in rats with early transcriptomic changes in cell cycle-associated genes, including *Ccnd1*.¹²⁹ Following portal vein branch ligation and subsequent liver regeneration, *Ccnd1* was upregulated, alongside G2/M phase cyclins and *Cdkn1a*, indicating a programmed proliferative response whereby the proliferation during regeneration is controlled to prevent aberrant cell division.¹³⁰ Despite this, there has been no insight into whether Ccnd1 plays a more significant part in regeneration, or its relationship with IL-17A.

The interaction between IL-17 and CD133 (Prom1) has predominantly been explored in a tumour setting. Exposing cdHPCs to IL-17A has been shown to upregulate *Prom1* expression in this investigation. FACS analysis also revealed that a greater percentage of cdHPCs were CD133+ when cultured in the presence of IL-17A. This signifies there is an IL-17/CD133 axis in the liver than needs to be explored. Cancer stem-like cells (CSLCs) in ovarian cancer stimulated and transfected with IL-17 had a greater tumorigenesis capacity, exhibiting enhanced growth and sphere formation in organoid cultures, and a remarkable capacity to selfrenew. Inhibition of NF- κ B/MAPK signalling pathways also resulted in the inhibition of this IL-17-promoted self-renewal of CSLCs, highlighting these as potential pathways for the IL-17/NF- κ B/CD133 axis in cdHPCs.¹¹⁷ A role for IL-17 and CD133 in liver tumorigenesis has been supported by the correlation between IL-17⁺ cells and increased CD133 expression in hepatic progenitor cells from preneoplastic livers.¹³¹ This indicates that IL-17 is elemental in promoting the stem cell-like

properties of stem/progenitor cells. However, the regulation between controlled tissue repair mechanisms and dysregulated regenerative mechanisms, which may cause tumorigenesis, needs to be further investigated.

The relationship between IL-17 and Wnt signalling also appears to be of importance in liver stem cell activation during liver regeneration. CdHPCs cultured with IL-17 exhibited higher expression levels of various factors involved in the Wnt signalling pathway, including *Nf*κb1, *Catnb1*, *Gpr49* and *Rela*. Crosstalk between the Wnt/βcatenin and NF- κ B pathways are essential in modulating the inflammatory and immune responses, which can be positive or negative and depends on the cellular or tissue context.¹³² The increased expression of $Nf\kappa b1$ and Catnb1 suggests IL-17A can activate, or induce, the interaction of these pathways as part of the injury response in the liver. RelA (p65) forms a heterodimer with the transcription factor NF-κB in the canonical pathway and has been shown to form another complex with both β -catenin and NF- κ B1 (p50 subunit) to target gene expression in human breast and colon cancers. During intestinal tumorigenesis in mouse models, the interaction between NF- κ B, RelA and β -catenin was demonstrated to induce the dedifferentiation of intestinal epithelial cells to tumour-initiating cells, with a stem-like ability. Furthermore, the binding of RelA/p50 to a β -catenin/TCF (T-cell factor) complex led to the upregulation of several stem cell signature genes, including Lgr5 and Sox9 in the initiation of intestinal tumorigenesis.¹³³

The importance of IL-17A and one of its downstream effectors, NF- κ B, which is upregulated following IL-17A treatment of cdHPCs, on CD133 expression has also been observed. FACS analysis of cells supplemented with IL-17A revealed an

increasing in CD133 protein expression by cdHPCs. This upregulation, however, was inhibited with the addition of the NF-κB inhibitor, BAY117082, showing that NFκB inhibition is detrimental to CD133 protein expression of cdHPCs. Both IL-17A and NF-κB are therefore key in the promotion of the CD133⁺ stem-like phenotype of cdHPCs, and in driving the bipotency of these progenitor cells. Several other studies have emphasised the relationship between NF-κB and CD133, showing that CD133⁺ cells have a more active NF-κB pathway than CD133⁻ cells in pancreatic cancer. NF-κB activation was also shown to mediate CD133-driven EMT and tumour cell invasion.¹³⁴ Similarly, in the CD133+ cancer stem cells (CSCs) of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and ovarian cancer, NF-κB inhibition prevented EMT and the selfrenewal capability of these cells, respectively.^{117, 135} In addition to this, blocking the IKK-NF-κB signal, alongside NOTCH, partially inhibited the CD133⁺ phenotype of skin CSCs.¹³⁶ From this, it is clear that NF-κB is a major factor in the expression of a CD133⁺ phenotype, which may also be true for cdHPCs as well.

GPR49, also known as LGR5, is a signature stem cell and cancer-like stem cell (CLSC) marker that acts through the regulation of Wnt signalling. The Wnt coreceptor, Lgr5, which is coded for by GPR49, is responsible for controlling stem cell activation in epithelial organs.¹³⁷ LGR5 is an important marker of progenitor cells of multiple lineages, including the small intestine, colon, stomach, and hair follicles. Huch et al showed that, during liver homeostasis, *Lgr5* was not expressed. Following liver damage, however, there was a high level *Lgr5* expression. Lineage tracing also revealed that damage-induced Lgr5+ cells were capable of generating both hepatocytes and bile ducts *in vivo*.¹³⁸ Although significant upregulation of LGR5

was observed *in* vitro in this investigation, this increased expression may signify that liver regeneration is promoted through regulation of LGR5 and Wnt. Additionally, its status as a cancer stem cell marker may suggest a link between GPR49 and CD133, but this has not been explored further. The upregulation of these markers in cdHPCs following IL-17 treatment indicates that IL-17 not only plays an important role in promoting the cross-regulation of signalling pathways involved in mediating inflammation, but also in driving the bipotency of cdHPCs.

The use of a TCF-LEF GFP plasmid to transfect cdHPCs allowed for the visualisation of Wnt signalling activation via GFP expression. IL-17A treatment of these cells led to twice as many cells expressing the CD133 protein, when compared to the untreated control group. Cells positive for both CD133 and GFP (Wnt+) were more responsive to IL-17A, alluding to an interaction between IL-17 and Wnt signalling that is also associated with CD133 protein expression. The relationship between Wnt signalling and immune cells is implicated in a variety of settings, such as cancer progression, fibrosis, and maintenance of the tumour microenvironment. Canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways are important in macrophage-mediated tissue injury, repair of major organs, cell fate decision and proliferation, key processes in liver regeneration.¹³⁹ Notch and Wnt signalling are also involved in directing the specification of hepatic progenitor cells by interacting with macrophages or activated myofibroblasts to maintain Numb expression within HPCs. β-catenin, which has also shown to be upregulated in the presence of IL-17, is stabilised, translocating to the nucleus to bind TCF and LEF transcription factors to target genes. As the expression of Catnb1 was found within hepatic HPCs, this indicated a significant role for Wnt signalling in HPC to hepatocyte differentiation. However, in

the absence of hepatic macrophages, bile ducts were shown to form, suggesting this pathway is also important in ductular reaction.¹⁴⁰

In a study focusing on the association between Wnt expression and cholestatic liver injury in mice, the presence of Sox9 and EpCAM in the periportal area and not just the portal tract (PT) region indicated hepatocytes had developed a biliary-like phenotype. The increased expression of Wntless in this area alluded to EpCAM+ cells being the primary Wnt-producing cells in the PT following cholestatic liver injury.¹⁴¹ During cholangiocyte to hepatocyte transition in ductal organoid models, the activation of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway led to these cholangiocytes developing progenitor-like features, indicating the importance of Wnt and β -catenin in the transdifferentiation of cholangiocytes in severe liver injury.¹⁴²

The expression of IL-17A by neutrophils remains controversial and widely debated among scientists. Several studies have failed to reproduce the expression of IL-17A, and other IL-17 family members, by human neutrophils despite stimulation via agonists such as IL-6 and IL-23.¹⁴³ IL-17 is known to be a vital mediator in neutrophil recruitment migration through the expression of G-CSF, IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF- α , and the chemokines CXCL1, CXCL2 and CXCL5.¹⁴⁴ However, the reversal of this mechanism, whereby neutrophils are a source of IL-17 production, is undetermined. In this investigation, it was shown that CD11b⁺ Ly6G⁺ neutrophils were the main contributors, along with CD11b^{Hi} F480⁻ monocytes, of IL-17A expression in the fatty diseased livers of MCD mice. CD4⁺ T-cells and CD8⁺ T-cells are often considered to be key sources of IL-17A in inflammatory diseases¹⁴⁵ but it was shown that their contribution did not significantly change between the livers of healthy and diseased

mice. Interestingly, in human liver fibrosis, neutrophils were found to be one of the main sources of IL-17. Together with IL-22, this was critical in driving TGF-βdependent liver fibrosis.¹⁴⁶ This indicates that neutrophil production of IL-17 relies on other factors outside of its usual stimulants, IL-6 and IL-23, and may be specific to the disease setting. Indeed, neutrophils were shown to be major contributors to IL-17 expression in hepatic ischaemia-reperfusion injury (IRI), attracting inflammatory cells to infiltrate the hepatocytes and sinusoidal endothelial cells.¹⁴⁷ In kidney IRI, neutrophils, rather than CD4+, CD8+ or NK1.1+ cells, were also found to be the major source of IL-17A production.¹⁴⁴ It has also been suggested that neutrophils express IL-17A during synovial inflammation.¹⁴⁷ In addition to hepatic and renal IRI, neutrophils stimulated with IL-6 and -23 in human peripheral blood and murine bone marrow expressed both IL-17A mRNA and protein.¹⁴⁸ These studies support the novel findings in this investigation, whereby neutrophils are capable of being the major source of IL-17 in disease settings, including in the liver. Targeting neutrophil recruitment, or IL-17 signalling on the epithelium, may be investigated as ways to mediate the actions of IL-17A in chronic liver disease.

In addition to neutrophils, CD11b^{Hi} F480⁻ monocytes were shown to contribute to IL-17 expression in MCD-fed mice. Monocytes activated *in vivo* in inflamed human tissue induced intracellular IL-17 expression without IL-1 β and TNF- α .¹⁴⁹ Despite this, there have been few studies investigating monocyte expression of IL-17A. This investigation indicates a need to explore the range of immune cell subsets that express IL-17, particularly in liver disease. Using different models, whether dietary or genetic, may provide different outcomes in response to different immune cell subsets that secrete IL-17, however.

The expression of the IL-17A receptor, IL-17RA, on cdHPCs, and the role it plays in liver regeneration has not been previously identified. The percentage of hepatic progenitor cells isolated from cholangiocytes using FACS was found to be greater in the fatty diseased livers of MCD-fed mice that in livers from healthy mice, supporting the hypothesis that cdHPCs are key contributors in the injury response. When the percentage of EpCAM+CD133+ cells were directly compared between healthy and MCD groups, there was not a significant difference between the two; this was also seen when comparing the percentage of these progenitor cells expressing IL-17RA. However, normalising the data to the sample's total cell number showed that the livers of MCD-fed mice had a greater influx of this LIN⁻ non-parenchymal cell population than the livers of healthy mice. The surface expression of IL-17RA was also considerably more in the EpCAM+CD133+ progenitor cells of fatty MCD livers, when compared to IL-17RA expression in healthy livers. These findings are significant in showing that hepatic progenitor cells expand in the liver following damage as part of the liver regeneration process. Similarly, IL-17RA has been shown to be important in the proliferative priming of hepatocytes during liver regeneration, regulating the expression of IL-6 and promoting residual hepatocyte proliferation.¹⁵⁰ Although chronic injury to the liver exhausts the ability of hepatocytes to self-renew, and therefore biliary-derived progenitor cells play a more central role, this study supports the observation that IL-17RA are key players in the injury response to drive hepatic regeneration.

This investigation also highlighted a role for IL-17A in the wound healing and proliferative response of cdHPCs. It was shown that cdHPCs supplemented with IL-

17A had a slower healing/migratory response, when compared to TNF- α -treated and untreated cells. There is contradictory evidence on the effect IL-17 has on wound healing. In skin and tendon injuries, IL-17A has been shown to delay the wound healing response, even leading to degeneration.^{151, 152} However, in a separate study on skin tumorigenesis, IL-17A was shown to mediate the activation of EGFR to promote wound healing via Lrig1⁺ stem cell expansion and migration.¹⁰⁸ In IL-17A^{-/-} mice, wound-healing defects were also observed in epidermal injuries.¹⁵³ This may be an indication that there is fine balance between the reparative and degenerative effects of IL-17A, depending on disease setting and other unknown factors, as discussed previously in the introduction of this investigation. Another suggestion is that IL-17A has a more significant part in promoting the proliferation of cdHPCs, than in their migration from bile ducts to the liver parenchyma. cdHPCs treated with mitomycin C and analysed using an MTT assay exhibited impaired proliferation compared to control (untreated) cells. However, when treated with IL-17A, there was a greater proliferative response in cdHPCs than in untreated cells. This indicates that IL-17A can promote proliferation, despite its impairment of the wound healing response. Guillot et al reported a similar finding; in vitro treatment with IL-17 led to increased proliferation in bipotent murine oval liver cells.⁸⁶ IL-17A has also been found to drive proliferation of keratinocytes, nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells and in breast cancer cells.¹⁵⁴⁻¹⁵⁶ However, there needs to be further investigation into the extent of the role IL-17A plays in cdHPC proliferation, whether there is a balance between promoting this and inhibiting it, and the importance of IL-17 inhibiting a migratory response in these cells.

CONCLUSION

Limitations

There are several limitations that impact the outcomes of this investigation. Histological analysis of IL-17 expression in MCD-fed mice was not possible due to fatty deposits obscuring IL-17 immunofluorescence. Although using an Mdm2^{-/-} mouse model is useful in showing IL-17A expression in generalised hepatic injury, a 3,5-Diethoxycarbonyl-1,4-Dihydrocollidine (DDC) model would show the expression of IL-17 in the presence of ductular reaction, the compensatory component of liver stem cell activation. Additionally, qPCR analysis of proliferative markers and Wnt signalling factors in healthy and MCD mice may provide greater insight into the crossover between IL-17 expression and fatty liver disease. This would also strengthen the association between NAFLD, IL-17 and the pathways involved in promoting liver regeneration. The wound healing and MTT assays also proved a challenge in this investigation. As the initial wound size was not consistent amongst treatment groups, it was difficult to assess whether this affected the healing or migratory response. Bias was easily introduced in the measuring of this response, as some sections were clearly narrower, or wider, than others. This measurement could be changed or interpreted differently as a result to fit the hypothesis of this experiment. Ensuring a standardised measurement here may resolve this limitation. For analysis of the MTT, time zero data was not used to indicate the base level of cdHPC proliferation, and how mitomycin C and IL-17A affected that cell population, due to inaccurate data collection. Due to the limited research period of this investigation, it was not possible to repeat this experiment and provide a wider analysis of effects of mitomycin C and IL-17A on cdHPC proliferation.

Future directions

It is evident that IL-17A plays a key part in the processes behind liver regeneration, whether it's protective or pathogenic, and further investigation is needed to fully understand this role. Using a blocking antibody to neutralise IL-17 and its effects in both healthy and diseased animal models may give greater insight into the role of IL-17 in liver homeostasis and during liver regeneration. This may involve modulation of processes such as liver inflammation and tissue remodelling. Alternatively, injection of IL-17 in mice following partial hepatectomy, MCD or DDC, could be used to explore the direct effects of IL-17A during liver regeneration. Aside from targeting the IL-17A cytokine itself, a transgenic mouse model can be used to delete its receptor, IL-17RA, from cholangiocytes, for example: Krt19Cre^{ERT2} IL17Ra^{fl/fl}. Deletion of IL-17A/IL-17RA would prevent IL-17A from binding and inhibit the activation of any downstream pathways that may be involved. From this investigation, the IL-17A/IL-17RA complex has been implicated in the NF-κB and Wnt signalling pathways, which may be downregulated following IL-17RA deletion.

In addition to using alternative mouse models to further explore the role of IL-17A and IL-17RA, the balance between the regenerative effects and the occurrence of fibrogenesis needs to be addressed. IL-17 may prime stem cell activation, but it can also lead to liver fibrosis. The regenerative effects of IL-17A may be limited or influenced by other factors that drive IL-17 to develop a destructive function.

Concluding remarks

The research and results of this investigation strongly suggest IL-17A is key in the expansion of a hepatic progenitor cell compartment during liver regeneration

following chronic liver injury. IL-17A mediates the transdifferentiation of cholangiocytes to cdHPCs, stimulating them to express the stem cell marker, CD133. IL-17A acts through various pathways, most notably the NF-κB and Wnt signalling pathways, to upregulate CD133 expression and drive the bipotency of these cholangiocyte-derived hepatic progenitor cells.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Asrani SK, Devarhbhavi H, Eaton J et al. Burden of liver diseases in the world. J Hepatol 2019;70:151-170
- GBD 2017 Cirrhosis Collaborators. The global, regional, and national burden of cirrhosis by cause in 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020;5:245-266
- 3. Stravitz RT, Lee WM. Acute liver failure. Lancet 2019;394:869-881
- 4. Koch DG, Speiser JL, Durkalski V, et al. The Natural History of Severe Acute Liver Injury. Am J Gastroenterol 2017;112:1389-1396
- 5. Ferriero R, Nusco E, De Cegli R, et al. Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex and lactate dehydrogenase are targets for therapy of acute liver failure. J Hepatol 2018;69:325-335
- 6. Blackmore L, Bernal W. Acute liver failure. Clin Med (Lond) 2015;15:468-472
- 7. Bernal W, Lee WM, Wendon J, et al. Acute liver failure: A curable disease by 2024? J Hepatol. 2015;62:S112-120
- 8. Sharma A, Nagalli S. Chronic Liver Disease 2021. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan-.PMID: 32119484
- 9. Heidelbaugh JJ, Bruderly M. Cirrhosis and chronic liver failure: part I. Diagnosis and evaluation. Am Fam Physician 2006;74:756-762
- 10. Benedict M, Zhang X. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: An expanded review. World J Hepatol 2017;9:715-732
- 11. Friedman SL, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Rinella M, et al. Mechanisms of NAFLD development and therapeutic strategies. Nat Med 2018;24:908-922
- 12. Huang DQ, El-Serag HB, Loomba R. Global epidemiology of NAFLD-related HCC: trends, predictions, risk factos and prevention. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021;18:223-238
- 13. Araújo AR, Rosso N, Bedogni G, et al. Global epidemiology of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease/non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: What we need in the future. Liver Int 2018;38:S47-51
- 14. Lee S, Kwak JH, Kim SH, et al. Comparative study of liver injury induced by high-fat methionine- and choline-deficient diet in ICR mice originating from three different sources. Lab Anim Res 2019;35:15
- 15. Zhong G, Zhou X, Xu J et al. Rodent models of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Digestion 2020;101:522-535
- 16. Cao H, Chen X, Wang Z, et al. The role of MDM2-p53 axis dysfunction in the hepatocellular carcinoma transformation. Cell Death Dis 2020;6:53
- 17. Kodama T, Takehara T, Hikita H, et al. Increases in p53 expression induce CTGF synthesis by mouse and human hepatocytes and result in liver fibrosis in mice. J Clin Invest 2011;121:3343-3356
- 18. Liu Z, Jin L, Wang B, et al. Loss of Adipocyte MDM2 Causes Lipodystrophy by Inducing P53-Dependent Apoptosis and Senescence. Diabetes 2018;67(S1)

- 19. Neuberger J. Liver transplantation in the United Kingdom. Liver Transpl 2016;22:1129-1135
- 20. Samuel D, Coilly A. Management of patients with liver dieases on the waiting list for transplantation: a major impact to the success of liver transplantation. BMC Med 2018;16:113
- 21. Zarrinpar A, Busuttil R. Liver transplantation: past, present and future. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013;10:434-440
- 22. Di Maira T, Little EC, Berenguer M. Immunosuppression in liver transplant. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2020;46-47:101681
- 23. Duvoux C, Pageaux GP. Immunosuppression in liver transplant recipients with renal impairment. J Hepatol 2011;54:1041-1054
- 24. Murali AR, Chandra S, Stewart Z, et al. Graft Versus Host Disease After Liver Transplantation in Adults: A Case series, Review of Literature, and an Approach to Management. Transplantation 2016;100:2661-2670
- 25. Wood A, Eghtesad B, Lindenmeyer CC. Graft-Versus-Host Disease After Liver Transplantation. Clin Liv Dis 2020;15:81-84
- 26. Faisal N, Renner EL. Recurrence of autoimmune liver diseases after liver transplantation. World J Hepatol 2015;7:2896-2905
- 27. Burra P, Becchetti C, Germani G. NAFLD and liver transplantation: Disease burden, current management and future challenged. JHEP Rep 2020;2:100192
- 28. Castro-Manrreza ME, Montesinos JJ. Immunoregulation by mesenchymal stem cells: biological aspects and clinical applications. J Immunol Res 2015:394917
- 29. Leuning DG, Beijer NRM, du Fossé NA, et al. The cytokine secretion profile of mesenchymal stromal cells is determined by surface structure of the microenvironment. Sci Rep 2018;8:7716
- 30. Kaundal U, Bagai U, Rakha A. Immunomodulatory plasticity of mesenchymal stem cells: a potential key to successful solid organ transplantation. J Transl Med 2018;16:31
- 31. Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, et al. Minimal criterial for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 2006;8:315-317
- 32. Wilson AJ, Rand E, Webster AJ, et al. Characterisation of mesenchymal stromal cells in clinical trial reports: analysis of publish descriptors. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021;12:360
- 33. Shi Y, Wang Y, Li Q, et al. Immunoregulatory mechanisms of mesenchymal stem and stromal cells in inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Nephrol 2018;14:493-507
- 34. Weiss ARR, Dahlke MH. Immunomodulation by Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs): Mechanisms of Action of Living, Apoptotic, and Dead MSCs. Front Immunol 2019;10:1191

- 35. Wang H, Zhang H, Huang B, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells reverse high-fat diet-induced non-alcoholic fatty liver disease through suppression of CD4+ T lymphocytes in mice. Mol Med Rep 2018;17:3769-3774
- 36. Suk KT, Yoon JH, Kim MY, et al. Transplantation with autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for alcoholic cirrhosis: Phase 2 trial. Hepatology 2016;64:2185-2197
- 37. Berardis S, Lombard C, Evraerts J, et al. Gene Expression Profiling and Secretome Analysis Differentiate Adult-Derived Human Liver Stem/Progenitor Cells and Human Hepatic Stellate Cells. PLoS One 2014;9:e86137
- 38. Ishii T, Yasuchika K, Machimoto T, et al. Transplantation of Embryonic Stem Cell-Derived Endodermal Cells into Mice with Induced Lethal Liver Damage. Stem Cells 2009;25:3252-3260
- 39. Liu H, Kim Y, Sharkis S, et al. In Vivo Liver Regeneration Potential of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells from Diverse Origins. Sci Transl Med 2011;3:82ra39
- 40. Iansante V, Mitry R, Filippi C, et al. Human hepatocyte transplantation for liver disease: current status and future perspectives. Pediatr Res 2018;83:232-240
- 41. Yu Y, Fisher JE, Lillegard JB, et al. Cell therapies for liver diseases. Liver Transpl 2012;18:9-21
- 42. Alwahsh S, Rashidi H, Hay DC. Liver cell therapy: is this the end of the beginning? Cell Mol Life Sci 2018;75:1307-1324
- 43. Musso G, Gambino R, Cassader M, et al. A meta-analysis of randomized trials for treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2010;52:79-104
- 44. lv XD, Dong YQ, Hu LL, et al. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists (GLP-1 Ras) for the management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): A systematic review. Endocrinol Diabetes Metab J 2020;3:e00163
- 45.Lim GE, Brubaker PL. Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 Secretion by the L-Cell. Diabetes 2006;55:S70-S77
- 46. Andersen A, Lund A, Knop FK, et al. Glucagon-like peptide 1 in health and disease. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2018;14:390-403
- 47. Sofogianni A, Filippidis A, Chrysavgis L, et al. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agnoists in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: An update. World J Hepatol 2020;12:493-505
- 48. Armstrong MJ, Gaunt P, Aithal GP, et al. Liraglutide safety and efficacy in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (LEAN) a multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2 study. Lancet 2015;387:679-690
- 49. Español-Suñer R, Carpentier R, Van Hul N, et al. Liver progenitor cells yield functional hepatocytes in response to chronic liver injury in mice. Gastroenterology 2012;143:1564-1575
- 50. Tarlow BD, Pelz C, Naugler WE, et al. Bipotential adult liver progenitors are dervied from chronically injured mature hepatocytes. Cell Stem Cell 2014;15:605-618
- 51. Raven A, Forbes SJ. Hepatic progenitors in liver regeneration. J Hepatol 2018;69:1394-1395

- 52. Sato K, Marzioni M, Meng F, et al. Ductular Reaction in Liver Diseases: Pathological Mechanisms and Translational Significances. Hepatology 2019;69:420-430
- 53. So J, Kim A, Lee SH, et al. Liver progenitor cell-driven liver regeneration. Exp Mol Med 2020;52:1230-1238
- 54. Ko S, Choi TY, O Russell J, et al. Bromodomain and extraterminal (BET) proteins regulate biliary-driven liver regeneration. J Hepatol 2016;64:316-325
- 55. Wang N, Wu R, Tang D, et al. The BET family in immunity and disease. Sig Transduct Target Ther 2021;6:23
- 56. Huang M, Chang A, Choi M, et al. Antagonistic interaction between Wnt and Notch activity modulates the regenerative capacity of a zebrafish fibrotic liver model. Hepatology 2014;60:1753-1766
- 57. Lu WY, Bird TG, Boulter L, et al. Hepatic progenitor cells of biliary origin with liver repopulation capacity. Nat Cell Biol 2015;17:971-983
- 58. Raven A, Lu WY, Man TY, et al. Cholangiocytes act as facultative liver stem cells during impaired hepatocyte regeneration. Nature 2017;547:350-354
- 59. Richardson MM, Jonsson JR, Powell EE, et al. Progressive fibrosis in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: association with altered regeneration and a ductular reaction. Gastroenterology 2007;133:80-90
- 60. Weng HL, Cai X, Yuan X, et al. Two sides of one coin: massive hepatic necrosis and progenitor cell-mediated regeneration in acute liver failure. Front Physiol 2015;6:178
- 61. Choi TY, Ninov N, Stainier DY, et al. Extensive conversion of hepatic biliary epithelial cells to hepatocytes after near total loss of hepatocytes in zebrafish. Gastroenterology 2014;146:776-788
- 62. He J, Lu H, Zou Q, et al. Regeneration of liver after extreme hepatocyte loss occurs mainly via biliary transdifferentiation in zebrafish. Gastroenterology 2014;146:789-800
- 63. Yanger K, Knigin D, Zong Y, et al. Adult hepatocytes are generated by selfduplication rather than stem cell differentiation. Cell Stem Cell 2014;15:340-349
- 64. Schaub JR, Malato Y, Gormond C, et al. Evidence against a stem cell origin of new hepatocytes in a common mouse model of chronic liver injury. Cell Rep 2014;8:933-939
- 65. Gu C, Wu L, Li X. IL-17 family: cytokines, receptors and signaling. Cytokine 2013;64:477-485
- 66. Iwakura Y, Ishigame H, Saijo S, et al. Functional specialization of interleukin-17 family members. Immunity 2011;34:149-162
- 67. Harley ITW, Stankiewicz TE, Giles DA, et al. IL-17 Signaling Accelerates the Progression of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Mice. Hepatology 2014;59:1830-1839
- 68. Shi W, Zhu Q, Gu J et al. Anti-IL-17 Antibody Improves Hepatic Steatosis by Suppressing Interleukin-17-Related Fatty Acid Synthesis and Metabolism. Clin Dev Immunol 2013;253046

- 69. Amatya N, Garg AV, Gaffen SL. IL-17 Signaling: The Yin and the Yang. Trends Immunol. 2017;38:310-322
- 70. Meng F, Wang K, Aoyama T, et al. Interleukin-17 signaling in inflammatory, Kupffer cells, and hepatic stellate cells exacerbates liver fibrosis in mice. Gastroenterology 2012;143:765-776
- 71. Chackelevicius CM, Gambaro SE, Tiribelli C, et al. Th17 involvement in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease progression to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. World J Gastroenterol 2016;22: 9096-9103
- 72. Ogura H, Murakami M, Okuyama Y, et al. Interleukin-17 promotes autoimmunity by triggering a positive-feedback loop via interleukin-6 induction. Immunity 2008;29:628-636
- 73. Rau M, Schilling AK, Meertens J, et al. Progression from Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver to Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis Is Marked by a Higher Frequency of Th17 Cells in the Liver and an Increased Th17/Resting Regulatory T Cell Ratio in Peripheral Blood and in the Liver. J Immunol 2016;196:97-105
- 74. Gomes AL, Teijeiro A, Burén S, et al. Metabolic Inflammation-Associated IL-17A Causes Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis and Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Cancer Cell 2016;30:161-175
- 75. Qu F, Gao H, Zhu S, et al. TRAF6-Dependent Act1 Phosphorylation by the IB Kinase-Related Kinases Suppresses Interleukin-17-Induced NF-kB Activation. Mol Cell Biol. 2012; 32:3925-3937
- 76. Herjan T, Hong L, Bubenik J, et al. IL-17 receptor-associated adaptor Act1 directly stabilizes mRNAs to mediate IL-17 inflammatory signaling. Nat Immunol. 2018;19:354-365
- 77. Giles DA, Moreno-Fernandez ME, Stankiewicz TE, et al. Regulation of Inflammation by IL-17A and IL-17F Modulates Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Pathogenesis. PLoS ONE 2016; 11: e0149783
- 78. Viola A, Munari F, Sánchez-Rodríguez R, et al. The Metabolic Signature of Macrophage Responses. Front Immunol 2019;10:1462
- 79. Ma C, Kesarwala AH, Eggert T, et al. NAFLD causes selective CD4+ T lymphocyte loss and promotes hepatocarcinogenesis. Nature 2016; 531:253-257
- 80. Sun XF, Gu L, Deng WS, et al. Impaired balance of T helper 17/T regulatory cells in carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis in mice. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 2062-2070
- 81. Tan Z, Qian X, Jiang R, et al. IL-17A plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of liver fibrosis through hepatic stellate cell activation. J Immunol 2013;191:1835-1844
- 82. Fabre T, Kared H, Friedman SL, et al. IL-17A Enhances the Expression of Profibrotic Genes through Upregulation of the TGF-β Receptor on hepatic Stellate Cells in a JNK-Dependent Manner. J Immunol 2014;193:3925-3933
- 83. Orejudo M, Rodrigues-Diez RR, Rodrigues-Diez R, et al. Interleukin 17A Participates in Renal Inflammation Associated to Experimental and Human Hypertension. Front Pharmacol 2019;10:1015

- 84. Robert M, Miossec P. Effects of Interleukin 17 on the cardiovascular system. Autoimmun Rev 2017;16:984-991
- 85. Itoh S, Kimura N, Axtell RC, et al. Interleukin-17 accelerates allograft rejection by suppressing regulatory T cell expansion. Circulation 2011;124:S187-S196
- 86. Guillot A, Gasmi I, Brouillet A, et al. Interleukins-17 and 27 promote liver regeneration by sequentially inducing progenitor cell expansion and differentiation. Hepatol Commun 2018;2:329-343
- 87. Harada K, Shimoda S, Sato Y, et al. Periductal interleukin-17 production in association with biliary innate immunity contributes to the pathogenesis of cholangiopathy in primary biliary cirrhosis. Clin Exp Immunol 2009;157:261-270
- 88. Ceulemans A, Verhulst S, Van Haele M, et al. RNA-sequencing-based comparative analysis of human hepatic progenitor cells and their niche from alcoholic steatohepatitis livers. Cell Death Dis. 2017; 8: e3164
- 89. Rao R, Graffeo CS, Gulati R, et al. Interleukin 17-producing γδT cells promote hepatic regeneration in mice. Gastroenterology 2014;147:473-484
- 90. Berkhout L, Barikbin R, Schiller B, et al. Deletion of tumour necrosis factor α receptor 1 elicits an increased TH17 immune response in the chronically inflamed liver. Sci Rep 2019;9:4232
- 91. Ikenaga N, Liu SB, Sverdlov DY, et al. A new Mdr2(-/-) mouse model of sclerosing cholangitis with rapid fibrosis progression, early-onset portal hypertension, and liver cancer. Am J Pathol 2015;185:325-334
- 92. Capone A, Volpe E. Transcriptional Regulators of T Helper 17 Cell Differentiation in Health and Autoimmune Diseases. Front Immunol 2020;11:348
- 93. Meyer CG, St. Clair W. CHAPTER 10K Promising Biologic Agents and Small Chemical Compounds. Rheumatoid Arthritis 2009: 372-378
- 94. Sorg UR, Behnke K, Degrandi D, et al. Cooperative role of lymphotoxin β receptor and tumour necrosis factor receptor p55 in murine liver regeneration. J Hepatol 2016;64:1108-1117
- 95. Wolf MJ, Seleznik GM, Zeller N, et al. The unexpected role of lymphotoxin beta receptor signaling in carcinogenesis: from lymphoid tissue formation to liver and prostate cancer development. Oncogene 2010;29:5006-5018
- 96. Wimmer N, Heigl U, Lingseisen L, et al. Lymphotoxin-beta receptor signalling regulates cytokine expression via TRIM 30α in a TRAF3-dependent manner. Mol Immunol 2013;54:40-47
- 97. Anders RA, Subudhi SK, Wang J, et al. Contribution of the Lymphotoxin β Receptor to Liver Regeneration. J Immunol 2005;175:1295-1300
- 98. Huang W, Ma K, Zhang J, et al. Nuclear receptor-dependent bile acid signaling is required for normal liver regneration. Science 2006;312:233-236
- 99. Catrysse L, Vereecke L, Beyaert R, et al. A20 in inflammation and autoimmunity. Trends Immunol 2014;35:22-31

100. Studer P, da Silva CG, Revuelta Cervantes JM, et al. Significant lethality following liver resection in A20 heterozygous knockout mice uncovers a key role for A20 in liver regeneration. Cell Death Differ 2015;22:2068-2077

101. da Silva CG, Studer P, Skroch M, et al. A20 promotes liver regeneration by decreasing SOCS3 expression to enhance IL-6/STAT3 proliferative signals. Hepatology 2012;57:2014-2025

102. Catrysse L, Farhang Ghahremani M, Vereecke L, et al. A20 prevents chronic liver inflammation and cancer by protecting hepatocytes from death. Cell Death Dis 2016;7:e2250

103. Kitade M, Factor VM, Andersen JB, et al. Specific fate decisions in adult hepatic progenitor cells driven by MET and EGFR signaling. Genes Dev 2013;27:1706-1717

104. Schmidt C, Bladt F, Goedecke S, et al. Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor is essential for liver development. Nature 1995;373:699-702

105. Suzuki A, Zheng YW, Kaneko S, et al. Clonal identification and characterization of self-renewing pluripotent stem cells in the developing liver. J Cell Biol 2002;156:173-184

106. Ishikawa T, Factor VM, Marquardt JU, et al. Hepatocyte growth factor/c-met signaling is required for stem-cell-mediated liver regeneration in mice. Hepatology 2012;55:1215-1226

107. Natarajan A, Wagner B, Sibilia M. The EGF receptor is required for efficient liver regeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104:17081-17086

108. Chen X, Cai G, Liu C, et al. IL-17R-EGFR axis links wound healing to tumorigenesis in Lrig1+ stem cells. J Exp Med 2009;216:195-214

109. Garg AV, Gaffen SL. IL-17 signaling and A20: a balancing act. Cell Cycle 2013;12:3459-3460

110. Ma S. Biology and clinical implications of CD133(+) liver cancer stem cells. Exp Cell Res 2013;319:126-132

111. Li Z. CD133: a stem cell biomarker and beyond. Exp Hematol Oncol 2013;2:17

112. Liou GY. CD133 as a Regulator of Cancer Metastasis through the Cancer Stem Cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2019;106:1-7

113. Chen YS, Wu MJ, Huang CY, et al. CD133/Src Axis Mediates Tumor Initiating Property and Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition of Head and Neck Cancer. PLoS One 2011;6:e28053

114. Gilgenkrantz H, Collin de l'Hortet A. Understanding Liver Regeneration: From Mechanisms to Regenerative Medicine. Am J Path 2018;188:1316-1327

115. Kordes C, Sawitza I, Müller-Marbach A, et al. CD133+ hepatic stellate cells are progenitor cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007;352:410-417

116. Wei Y, Shi D, Liang Z, et al. IL-17A secreted from lymphatic endothelial cells promotes tumorigenesis by upregulation of PD-L1 in hepatoma stem cells. J Hep 2019;71:1206-1215

117. Xiang T, Long H, He L, et al. Interleukin-17 produced by tumor microenvironment promotes self-renewal of CD133+ cancer stem-like cells in ovarian cancer. Oncogene 2015;34:165-176

118. Wang Q, Chou X, Guan F, et al. Enhanced Wnt Signalling in Hepatocytes is Associated with Schistosoma japonicum Infection and Contributes to Liver Fibrosis. Sci Rep 2017;7:230

119. Behrooz AB, Syahir A, Ahmad S. CD133: beyond a cancer stem cell biomarker. J Drug Target 2019;27:257-269

120. Brossa A, Papadimitriou E, Collino F, et al. Role of CD133 Molecule in Wnt Response and Renal Repair. Stem Cells Transl Med 2018;7:283-294

121. Yuan C, Yang D, Ma J, et al. Modulation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in IL-17A-mediated macrophage polarization of RAW264.7 cells. Braz J Med Biol Res 2020;53:e9488

122. Li JY, Yu M, Tyagi AM, et al. IL-17 Receptor Signaling in Osteoblasts/Osteocytes Mediates PTH-Induced Bone Loss and Enhances Osteocytic RANKL Production. J Bone Miner Res 2019;34:349-360

123. Faust HJ, Zhang H, Han J, et al. IL-17 and immunologically induced senescence regulate response to injury in osteoarthritis. J Clin Invest 2020;130:5493-5507

124. Jörs S, Jeliazkova P, Ringelhan M, et al. Lineage fate of ductular reactions in liver injury and carcinogenesis. J Clin Invest 2015;125:2445-2457

125. Furuyama K, Kawaguchi Y, Akiyama H, et al. Continuous cell supply from a Sox9-expressing progenitor zone in adult liver, exocrine pancreas and intestine. Nat Genet 2011;43:34-41

126. Bergström A, Gerling M, Van Hul N, et al. Severe liver disease resembling PSC in mice with K5-Cre mediated deletion of Krüppel-like factor 5 (Klf5). Transgenic Res 2021. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11248-021-00267-6

127. Okada H, Yamada M, Kamimoto K, et al. The transcription factor Klf5 is essential for intrahepatic biliary epithelial tissue remodeling after cholestatic liver injury. J Biol Chem 2018;293:6214-6229

128. Wei X, Ye J, Shang Y, et al. Ascl2 activation by YAP1/KLF5 ensures the selfrenewability of colon cancer progenitor cells. Oncotarget 2017;8:109301-109318 129. Colak D, Al-Harazi O, Mustafa OM, et al. RNA-Seq transcriptome profiling in three liver regeneration models in rats: comparative analysis of partial hepatectomy, ALLPS, and PVL. Sci Rep 2020;10:5213

130. Sato Y, Katoh Y, Matsumoto M, et al. Regulatory signatures of liver regeneration distilled by integrative analysis of mRNA, histone methylation, and proteomics. J Biol Chem 2017;292:8019-8037

131. Gasmi I, Machou C, Rodrigues A, et al. Interleukin-17 mediates liver progenitor cell transformation into cancer stem cells though downregulation of miR-122. Cancer Biol Med 2018;15:S1

132. Ma B, Hottiger MO. Crosstalk between Wnt/ β -Catenin and NF- κ B Signaling Pathway during Inflammation. Front Immunol 2016;7:378

133. Schwitalla S, Fingerle AA, Cammareri P, et al. Intestinal Tumorigenesis Initiated by Dedifferentiation and Acquisition of Stem-Cell-like Properties. Cell 2012;152:25-38

134. Nomura A, Banerjee S, Chugh R, et al. CD133 initiates tumors, induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition and increases metastasis in pancreatic cancer. Oncotarget 2015;6:8313-8322

135. Zakaria N, Yusoff NM, Zakaria Z, et al. Inhibition of NF-κB Signaling Reduces the Stemness Characteristics of Lung Cancer Stem Cells. Front Oncol 2018;8:166

136. Quan XX, Hawk NV, Chen W, et al. Targeting Notch1 and IKKα enhanced NF-κB activation in CD133+ Skin Cancer Stem Cells. Mol Cancer Ther 2018;17:2034-2048

137. Kwon MS, Park BO, Kim HM, et al. Leucine-Rich Repeat-Containing G-Protein Couple Receptor 5/GPR49 Activates G12/13-Rho GTPase Pathway. Mol Cells 2013;36:267-272

138. Huch M, Dorrell C, Boj SF, et al. In vitro expansion of single Lgr5+ liver stem cells induced by Wnt-driven regeneration. Nature 2013;494:247-250

139. Chae WJ, Bothwell ALM. Canonical and Non-Canonical Wnt Signaling in Immune Cells. Trends Immunol 2020;39:830-847

140. Boulter L, Govaere O, Bird TG, et al. Macrophage-derived Wnt opposes Notch signaling to specify hepatic progenitor cell fate in chronic liver disease. Nat Med 2012;18:572-579

141. Okabe H, Yang J, Sylakowski K, et al. Wnt signaling regulates hepatobiliary repair following cholestatic liver injury in mice. Hepatology 2016;64:1652-1666 142. Valle-Encinas E, Aleksieva N, Martinez CM, et al. Canonical Wnt signalling is activated during BEC-to-hepatocyte conversion in vivo and modulates liver epithelial cell plasticity in hepatic organoids. bioRxiv 2020. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.11.09.374462

https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.11.09.374462

143. Tamassia N, Arruda-Silva F, Calzetti F, et al. A Reappraisal on the Potential Ability of Human Neutrophils to Express and Produce IL-17 Family Members In Vitro: Failure to Reproducibly Detect It. Front Immunol 2018;9:795

144. Li L, Huang L, Vergis AL. IL-17 produced by neutrophils regulates IFN-γ– mediated neutrophil migration in mouse kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Clin Invest 2010;120:331-342

145. Srenathan U, Steel K, Taams LS. IL-17+ CD8+ T cells: Differentiation, phenotype and role in inflammatory disease. Immunol Lett 2016;178:20-26 146. Fabre T, Molina MF, Soucy G, et al. Type 3 cytokines IL-17A and IL-22 drive TGF- β -dependent liver fibrosis. Sci Immunol 2018;3:eaar7754

147. Tan Z, Jiang R, Wang X, et al. RORγt+IL-17+ neutrophils play a critical role in hepatic ischemia–reperfusion injury. J Mol Cell Biol 2013;5:143-146

148. Taylor PR, Roy S, Leal, Jr SM, et al. Autocrine IL-17A–IL-17RC neutrophil activation in fungal infections is regulated by IL-6, IL-23, RORγt and Dectin-2. Nat Immunol 2014;15:143-151

149. Evans HG, Gullick NJ, Kelly S, et al. In vivo activated monocytes from the site of inflammation in humans specifically promote Th17 responses. PNAS 2009;106:6232-6237

150. Piobbico D, Bartoli D, Pieroni S, et al. Role of IL-17RA in the proliferative priming of hepatocytes in liver regeneration. Cell Cycle 2018;17:2423-2435 151. Takagi N, Kawakami K, Kanno E, et al. IL-17A promotes neutrophilic inflammation and disturbs acute wound healing in skin. Exp Dermatol 2017;26:137-144

152. Millar NL, Akbar M, Campbell AL, et al. IL-17A mediates inflammatory and tissue remodelling events in early human tendinopathy. Sci Rep 2016;6:27149 153. MacLeod AS, Hemmers S, Garijo O, et al. Dendritic epidermal T cells regulate skin antimicrobial barrier function. J Clin Invest 2013;123:4364-4374 154. Wu L, Chen X, Zhao J, et al. A novel IL-17 signaling pathway controlling keratinocyte proliferation and tumorigenesis via the TRAF4–ERK5 axis. J Exp Med 2015;212:1571-1587

155. Cai K, Wang B, Dou H, et al. IL-17A promotes the proliferation of human nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells through p300-mediated Akt1 acetylation. Oncol Lett 2017;13:4238-4244

156. Cochaud S, Giustiniani J, Thomas C, et al. IL-17A is produced by breast cancer TILs and promotes chemoresistance and proliferation through ERK1/2. Sci Rep 2013;3:3456